
 CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS  

 

CITY COUNCIL REGULAR SESSION 

321 WALNUT STREET, GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TUESDAY, JANUARY 07, 2025 – 6:00 PM 

The city council prohibits the use of cell phones and other electronic devices which emit an audible sound 

during all meetings with the exception of law enforcement, fire and rescue or health care providers on 

call. Persons in violation may be requested to leave the meeting. 

Anyone wishing to address the City Council is requested to complete a card at the City Clerk’s desk.  

Speakers are respectfully requested to abide by the following procedures: 

*Limit your comments to three (3) minutes                                *No debating and rebuttals 

*Speak directly to the Mayor not staff or the audience             *Time cannot be allocated to others 

*No raising your hand and speaking from the audience           *Only speak one (1) time per agenda item 

AGENDA 

Invocation & Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag - Bob Page 

Roll Call 

Mayor to call on members of the audience wishing to address the Council on matters not on the Agenda. 

AWARDS & RECOGNITION 

1. Proclamation - Martin Luther King, Jr Day  

2. Proclamation - Arbor Day 

3. Proclamation - Amazing Grace Family Farms 

PRESENTATIONS 

4. FMPA - January 2025 Bob Page 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 

5. Second and final reading of Ordinance No. O-35-2024, editing Chapter 54 in the City Code to 

add Article III.  Interim Chief Hines, Detective Milliken 

CONSENT AGENDA 

All matters under the consent agenda are considered to be routine by the city council and will be enacted 

by one motion in the form listed below. There will be no separate discussion on these items. If discussion 

is desired, that item will be removed from the consent agenda and will be considered separately. Backup 

documentation and staff recommendations have been previously submitted to the city council on these 

items. 

6. City Council approval of the Black History Month Proclamation.  Erin West 

Page 1



January 07, 2025 Agenda Page 2 of 3 

 

 

7. City Council approval of the proclamation for Carolyn Edwards, Executive Director of Clay 

County Habitat for Humanity.  Erin West 

8. City Council approval of the third amendment to the City Attorney Employment Agreement  

Erin West 

9. City Council award of Bid 2024-09, Bayard Stormwater Improvements to DB Civil Construction 

in the total amount of $875,945.00, which includes the base bid amount of $821,945.00 and 

alternate #1 amount of $54,000.00.  Greg Bauer 

10. City Council approval of pay application #5 to Kirby Development, Inc. In the amount of 

$178,805.19, for the Julia Street Stormwater Improvement Project.  Greg Bauer 

11. City Council Approve Pay Application #9 for the West Street CDBG Stormwater Improvements 

and Highland Sidewalk Improvements to Besch and Smith in the amount of $52494.74.  Greg 

Bauer 

12. City Council approval of the Sawcross (Tender Contractor) Pay Request #8, in the amount of 

$178,362.50, and authorization for the mayor to execute Disbursement Request # 24 (to follow), 

for construction of the Harbor Road Advanced Wastewater Treatment Facility (HRAWWTF), as 

part of the Florida Department of Environmental Protection (FDEP), State Revolving Fund 

(SRF), Harbor Road Water Reclamation Facility (WRF) Expansion, Phase 2, SRF Agreement 

No. WW1000420.  Scott Schultz 

13. City Council approval of the Clay Habitat - Palmer Trace Final Plat  Michael Daniels 

14. City Council approval of a scrivener’s error.  Erin West 

15. City Council approval of task order to Forefront Architecture and Engineering in the amount of 

$105,000.00 for the RFQ No. 2024-06 – CDBG-CV Cafetorium Architectural Services project.  

Mike Null 

COUNCIL BUSINESS 

16. First reading of Ordinance No. O-01-2025, which addresses items abandoned on City property.  

L.J. Arnold, III 

17. City Manager & City Attorney Reports / Correspondence 

18. City Council Reports / Correspondence 

Adjournment 

 

 

The City Council meets the first and third Tuesday of each month beginning at 7:00 p.m., unless 

otherwise scheduled.  Meetings are held in City Hall at 321 Walnut Street.  Video and audio 

recordings of the meetings are available in the City Clerk’s Office upon request. 

Page 2



January 07, 2025 Agenda Page 3 of 3 

 

 

City may take action on any matter during this meeting, including items that are not set forth within 

this agenda. 

Minutes of the City Council meetings can be obtained from the City Clerk’s office.   The Meetings 

are usually recorded, but are not transcribed verbatim for the minutes.  Persons requiring a 

verbatim transcript may make arrangements with the City Clerk to duplicate the recordings, if 

available, or arrange to have a court reporter present at the meeting.  The cost of duplication and/or 

court reporter will be at the expense of the requesting party. 

Persons who wish to appeal any decision made by the City Council with respect to any matter 

considered at this meeting will need a record of the proceedings, and for such purpose may need to 

ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made, which record includes the testimony and 

evidence upon which the appeal is based.  The City is not responsible if the inhouse recording is 

incomplete for any reason. 

ADA NOTICE 

In accordance with Section 286.26, Florida Statutes, persons with disabilities needing special 

accommodations to participate in this meeting should contact the City Clerk’s office no later than 5:00 

p.m. on the day prior to the meeting. 

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION: 

Pursuant to Section 286.0114, Florida Statutes, effective October 1, 2013, the public is invited to speak 

on any “proposition” before a board, commission, council, or appointed committee takes official action 

regardless of whether the issue is on the Agenda.  Certain exemptions for emergencies, ministerial acts, 

etc. apply.  This public participation does not affect the right of a person to be heard as otherwise provided 

by law. 

EXPARTE COMMUNICATIONS 

Oral or written exchanges (sometimes referred to as lobbying or information gathering) between a Council 

Member and others, including staff, where there is a substantive discussion regarding a quasijudicial 

decision by the City Council. The exchanges must be disclosed by the City Council so the public may 

respond to such exchanges before a vote is taken. 

 

Page 3



Page 4

Item #1.



Page 5

Item #2.



Page 6

Item #3.



FMPA Report 

 

January 2024 

 

Rate Call 

 

The average price of natural gas for the month was $2.70. Daily natural gas prices for the past 

month have continued to move upward; they have ranged from $3.19 to 3.99. The Alberta 

Clippers have begun to sweep across the US and the associated lower temperatures have increase 

heating demand for natural gas and pushed prices upward more quickly. 

 

Natural gas accounted for 86% of the generation mix. Coal was 5%; nuclear was 5%. Solar 

generation was 2%.  

 

The Rice Creek solar facility achieved Commercial Operation (CO) status on 30 December. 

  

The peak for the month was 8 November at 3 PM. 

 

Board of Directors 

 

There were no action items on the Board of Directors agenda. 

 

Information items covered Stanton Energy Center negotiations and Regulatory Compliance 

update. 

 

Executive Committee  

 

The Executive Committee approved the Natural Gas Price Stability Program update. 

 

The information agenda item was Regulatory Compliance Update. 

 

Energy Resource 
 

Hart Energy (https://www.hartenergy.com/) and their Newsletter 

(https://www.hartenergy.com/newsletters) 

Page 7

Item #4.

https://www.hartenergy.com/
https://www.hartenergy.com/newsletters


Program Updates

11Page 35 of 57
Page 8

Item #4.



Rate Projections Targets Approved June 20th 

12

No Changes in Current Pricing Periods – Adding Summer '27

Summer Date 
Ranges

Target 
Gas Price 

($/MMBtu)

Target
Rate 

($/MWh)

Apr 25 – Oct 25 $3.33 $73.30

April 26 - Oct 26 $3.60 $76.91

April 27 - Oct 27 $3.33 *$78.20

Winter Date 
Ranges

Target
Gas Price 

($/MMBtu)

Target
Rate

($/MWh)

Nov 24 - Mar 25 $2.87 $82.90

Nov 25 - Mar 26 $3.75 $89.05

Nov 26 - Mar 27 $3.85 $89.95

Fiscal Year 
Target
Rate

($/MWh)

2024 $80.26

2025 $81.18

2026 $83.43

Page 36 of 57
Page 9

Item #4.



Positions as of December
Filling in Positions as the Market Continued to Fall

13

25% 24% 5%
5%

15%

‘26 Position : $3.365
‘25 Position: $3.195

’25 Target: $3.33  ($0.135)  
’26 Target: $3.60  ($0.235)  

11% 11% 11% 11%

3% 3%
10% 10% 10% 10%

5% 3% 1%

5% 5% 5% 5% 5% 5% 5%
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80% Target Strategy

Staff Discretion

Current Positions 

New Positions Added

Minimum Strategy

Page 37 of 57
Page 10

Item #4.



$~7.2M Total Margin Changes for FY24

14

$1.7M Margin Changes in Q1 2025

 $3,380,120 

 $9,966,136 
 $(50,743)

 $(6,097,149)
 $(1,143,045)

 $(1,680,357)

Initial
Margian

Q1 24 Q2 24 Q3 24 Q4 24 Q1 25*
$0

$2,000,000

$4,000,000

$6,000,000

$8,000,000

$10,000,000

$12,000,000

$14,000,000

$16,000,000

Page 38 of 57
Page 11

Item #4.



New Rate Projections Targets

15

Projected Changes in Current Pricing Periods – Adding Summer '27

Summer Date 
Ranges

Target 
Gas Price 

($/MMBtu)

Target
Rate 

($/MWh)

Apr 25 – Oct 25 $2.75
(0.58) $69.78

April 26 - Oct 26 $3.20
(0.40) $77.12

April 27 - Oct 27 3.25
(0.??) $??

Winter Date 
Ranges

Target
Gas Price 

($/MMBtu)

Target
Rate

($/MWh)

Nov 24 - Mar 25 $2.65
(0.22) $84.69

Nov 25 - Mar 26 $3.50
(0.25) $91.75

Nov 26 - Mar 27 3.60 $89.22

Fiscal Year 
Target
Rate

($/MWh)

2025 $77.23

2026 $84.44

2027 $??

Page 39 of 57
Page 12

Item #4.



$2.00

$2.50

$3.00

$3.50

$4.00

$4.50

$5.00

$5.50

$6.00

Dec-24 Mar-25 Jun-25 Sep-25 Dec-25 Mar-26 Jun-26 Sep-26 Dec-26 Mar-27 Jun-27 Sep-27

New Targets Below Current Market

16

New Positions Expected After Initial Winter Uncertainty

Target Strip Price Below 
Target / Buy

3-Year Range per 
Contract Month 

Target Strip Above Target / No Buy  

Dec 4th Curve

Summer/Winter 
Strip Averages

Page 40 of 57
Page 13

Item #4.



ORDINANCE NO. O-35-2024 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, 

FLORIDA, ADDING ARTICLE III TO CHAPTER 54 OF THE CITY OF 

GREEN COVE SPRINGS CODE TO BE KNOWN AS THE CITY OF GREEN 

COVE SPRINGS SEXUAL OFFENDER AND SEXUAL PREDATOR ACT; 

PROVIDING FINDINGS AND INTENT, DEFINITIONS, AND RESIDNECY 

REQUIREMENTS; PROHIBITING PRESENCE, LOITERING OR 

PROWLING WITHIN CHILD SAFETY ZONES WITH EXCEPTIONS; 

PROHIBITING PARTICIPATION IN HALLOWEEN ACITIVITES, WITH 

AN EXCEPTION; PROVIDING FOR PENALTIES FOR VIOLATION; 

PRODIVING FOR APPLICABILITY; PROVIDING FOR REPEALER, 

SEVERABILITY AND SETTING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

WHEREAS, the City has the utmost interest in promoting the general health, welfare, 

and safety of the children of Green Cove Springs by reducing opportunities for sexual 

offenders and sexual predators to interact with children or to make use of public spaces 

for criminal intent; and  

 

WHEREAS, this vital interest cannot be accomplished by a single law, but instead 

depends upon a cohesive and functional system of federal, state, and local laws, which 

must be adjusted and adapted from time to time to address new threats and 

circumstances as they arise; and 

 

WHEREAS, currently the residency of sexual offenders and sexual predators in Green 

Cove Springs is governed by Section 775.215 and Section 943.0435, Florida Statutes 

(2024), which prohibits certain sexual offenders and sexual predators from living 

within 1,000 feet of schools, child care facilities, parks and playgrounds; and 

 

WHEREAS, due to the substantial risk to children that recidivism poses, the City 

Council believes that the residency restriction of 1,000 feet, prohibited loitering at 

certain locations, and Halloween restrictions would provide greater protection for the 

children of Green Cove Springs and strike a balance between protecting children 

around crucial and vulnerable areas and times while still leaving available residential 

housing for those restricted; and 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 943.0435 and Section 775.215, Florida Statutes, 

sexual offenders and sexual predators must report in person to the Clay County 

sheriff’s office to register their temporary or permanent address within 48 hours of 

release from custody, control and/or supervision of Department of Corrections, 

Department of Children and Family Services or Department of Juvenile Justice; and 

 

WHEREAS, the sexual offender and sexual predator mandatory registration process 

requires resources, warranting fees being charged to the registrants. 

 

Page 14

Item #5.



Ordinance No. O--2024 

Page 2 of 6 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT ENACTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF GREEN 

COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA AS FOLLOWS: 

 

Section 1.  Chapter 54 of the City of Green Cove Springs Code is hereby amended to 

create Article III entitled “Sexual Offenders and Sexual Predators,” to be inserted 

immediately following Sec. 54-61 thereof, and to read in its entirety as follows: 

 

ARTICLE III. – SEXUAL OFFENDERS AND SEXUAL PREDATORS 

 

Sec. 54-62. – Title. 

This Article shall be known and may be cited as the "Green Cove Springs Sexual 

Offender and Sexual Predator Act." 

 

Sec. 54-63. – Findings and Intent. 

(a) The City Council hereby finds and determines that convicted sexual offenders and 

sexual predators present a threat to the public safety and welfare of children and are 

likely to repeat their sexual offenses. 

 

(b) It is the intent of this Article to reduce the potential risk of harm to children by 

limiting the opportunity for sexual offenders and sexual predators to be in contact with 

unsuspecting children at vulnerable times and locations in Green Cove Springs. 

 

Sec. 54-64. – Definitions. 

(a) Child or children means individuals whose chronological age is less than eighteen 

(18). 

 

(b) Child care facility has the same meaning as provided in Section 402.302, Florida 

Statutes, and includes day nurseries and family day care homes, licensed by the 

Department of Children and Families. 

 

(c) Child Safety Zone means an area three hundred (300) feet extending from schools, 

child care facilities, parks, playgrounds and school bus stops. 

 

(d) Park has the same meaning as provided in Section 775.215, Florida Statutes, 

specifically all public and private property specifically designated as being used for 

recreational purposes and where children regularly congregate. 

 

(e) Participate means actively taking part in an activity or event. 

 

(f) Permanent residence has the same meaning as provided in Section 775.21, Florida 

Statutes, specifically a place where the person abides, lodges, or resides for 3 or more 

consecutive days. 

 

Page 15

Item #5.



Ordinance No. O--2024 

Page 3 of 6 

(g) Playground has the same meaning as provided in Section 775.215, Florida Statutes, 

specifically a designated independent area in the community or neighborhood that is 

designated solely for children and has one or more play structures. 

 

(h) School means a public or private kindergarten, elementary, middle or 

secondary(high) school. 

 

(i) Sexual offender has the same meaning ascribed to such term in Section 943.0435, 

Florida Statutes. 

 

(j) Sexual Predator means a person designated as such pursuant to the criteria 

established in Section 775.21, Florida Statutes. 

 

(k) Temporary residence has the same meaning as provided in Section 775.21, Florida 

Statutes, specifically a place where the person abides, lodges, or resides, including, 

but not limited to, vacation, business, or personal travel destinations, for a period of 3 

or more days in the aggregate during any calendar year and which is not the person’s 

permanent address or, for a person whose permanent residence is not in this City, a 

place where the person is employed, practices a vocation, or is enrolled as a student 

for any period of time in this City. 

 

Sec. 54.65. – Residency Requirements. 

(a) A sexual offender or sexual predator required to register under Section 943.0435, 

Florida Statutes, or a sexual predator required to register under Section 775.21, Florida 

Statutes, may not establish a permanent or temporary residence within 1,000 feet of 

any school, child care facility, park, or playground. 

 

(b) The 1,000 feet shall be measured in a straight line from the outer boundary line of 

the parcel of real property upon which the residential dwelling unit of the sexual 

offender or sexual predator is located, to the outer boundary line of the parcel of real 

property upon which the school, child care facility, park, or playground is located. The 

distance may not be measured by a pedestrian route or automobile route, but instead 

shall be measured as the shortest straight line between the two (2) points without 

regard to any intervening structures or objects. Without otherwise limiting the 

foregoing measurement instructions, under those circumstances in which the 

residential dwelling unit of the restricted sexual offender or sexual predator is within 

a cooperative, condominium or apartment building, the parcel of real property 

described in this paragraph shall consist of the parcel or parcels of real property upon 

which the cooperative, condominium, or apartment building that contains the 

residential dwelling unit of the restricted sexual offender or sexual predator is located. 

 

(c) Exceptions. The provisions of this section shall not prohibit a sexual offender or 

sexual predator from continuing to reside at his or her residence: 

(1) If the residence was established prior to the effective date of this Article, unless 

the sexual offense or a violation of probation for said offense was committed 

subsequent thereto. 

Page 16

Item #5.



Ordinance No. O--2024 

Page 4 of 6 

(2) If the person was a minor when he or she committed the sexual offense and was 

not convicted as an adult. 

(3) If the person is a minor. 

(4) If a school, child care facility, park, or playground is subsequently built or 

established within 1,000 feet of his or her established residence. 

 

Sec. 54.66. – Prohibited Presence, Loitering or Prowling at Certain Locations; 

Exceptions. 

(a) It is prohibited for a sexual offender or sexual predator to be on or within a Child 

Safety Zone. Upon registration at the Clay County Sheriffs office, the sexual offender 

or sexual predator shall receive a list of public and private areas that are considered to 

be within a Child Safety Zone of Clay County. The City of Green Cove Springs Police 

Department has developed a list of locations within the Child Safety Zone and updates 

the list annually. At time of registration, the sexual offender or sexual predator shall 

sign and certify that he or she has received the list of the Child Safety Zone areas from 

the Clay County Sheriff s office, and such list shall serve as notice to the sexual 

offender or sexual predator.  The Green Cove Springs Police Department will have a 

Child Safety Zone list specific to the City of Green Cove Springs posted on the City 

website and a copy will be given to the Clay County Sheriff’s office. 

 

(b) Exceptions. This prohibition does not apply to: 

(1) A sexual offender or sexual predator who is in the process of dropping off or 

picking up his or her own child or a friend or relative's child (with the permission 

of the child's parent or legal guardian) from locations within a Child Safety Zone 

or while attending an activity with his or her own child or a friend or relative's child 

(with the permission of the child's parent or legal guardian) or when attending an 

adults only function. 

(2) A sexual offender or sexual predator who is on a prohibited location if it is a 

voting or voter registration location and he or she is present for the purposes of 

voting or registering during the hours designated for the voting or registration 

process, but only for the time required to complete the voting or registration 

process. 

(3) Traveling to or from or being at a government building for the purpose of 

conducting official business. 

(4) Single trips while traveling past a location specified in this section while enroute 

to another destination. 

(5) Traveling to or from or attendance at religious services. 

(6) A minor sexual offender or sexual predator enrolled in a Green Cove Springs 

public or private school in grades one (1) through twelve (12), while attending 

school or when present at his or her designated bus stop for transport to the school 

where he or she is enrolled. 

 

Page 17

Item #5.



Ordinance No. O--2024 

Page 5 of 6 

(c) For the purposes of determining the minimum distance separation requirement, 

distance shall be measured by following a straight line from the outer property line of 

the area primarily designed for use by, or that is primarily used by children. 

 

(d) For all activities involving the dropping off or picking up of a child or children, or 

attending an activity involving a child or children or traveling, attending services, or 

conducting official business as authorized above, the sexual offender or sexual 

predator may not remain or loiter any longer than is reasonably necessary to 

accomplish the task. 

 

Sec. 54.67. – Prohibited Halloween Activity: Exception. 

(a) It is unlawful for any sexual offender or sexual predator to participate in a 

Halloween event involving children, such as: distributing candy to children or other 

items to children on Halloween; or wearing costumes for the primary purpose of 

entertaining or attracting children. 

 

(b) Any person designated a sexual offender, or sexual predator shall be required on 

October 31st of each year to: 

(1) Avoid all Halloween-related contact with children; and 

(2) Leave all outside residential lighting off during the evening hours after 5 p.m.; 

and 

(3) Exhibit no exterior decorations on his or her residence to attract or entice 

children to the residence. 

 

(c) Exception. Halloween events in which the sexual offender or sexual predator is the 

parent or guardian of the children involved, and no non-familial children are present, 

are exempt from this section. 

 

Sec. 54.68. – Penalties. 

The failure of a sexual offender or sexual predator to comply with the terms of this 

Article shall constitute a misdemeanor of the second degree, punishable by a fine not 

to exceed $500.00 or by imprisonment for a term not to exceed 60 days, or by both 

such fine and imprisonment. 

 

Sec. 54.69. – Applicability. 

This Article shall be effective in the City of Green Cove Springs, Florida. 

 

Section 2.  Repealer. Any Ordinances or parts thereof in conflict with the provisions 

of this Ordinance are hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict. 

 

Section 3.  Severability. The various parts, sections and clauses of this Ordinance are 

hereby declared severable. If any part, sentence, paragraph, section or clause is 

adjudged unconstitutional or invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, the 

remainder of the Ordinance shall not be affected thereby. 

Page 18

Item #5.



Ordinance No. O--2024 

Page 6 of 6 

 

Section 4.  Effective Date. This Ordinance shall become effective upon passage. 

 

INTRODUCED AND APPROVED AS TO FORM ONLY ON THE FIRST 

READING BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, 

FLORIDA, ON THIS 10TH DAY OF DECEMBER 2024. 

 

CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

 

 
         

Steven R. Kelley, Mayor 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 
 

Erin West, City Clerk 

 

 

PASSED ON SECOND AND FINAL READING BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF 

GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA, THIS 7TH DAY OF JANUARY 2025. 

 

CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

 

 
         

Steven R. Kelley, Mayor 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 
 

Erin West, City Clerk 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM ONLY: 

 

 

L. J. Arnold, III, City Attorney 

Page 19

Item #5.



CHILD SAFETY ZONES 

NAME  ADDRESS  

Bannerman 
Learning Center 

 608 Mill St  

Charles E Bennet  1 S Oakridge Ave  

Green Cove Jr High  1220 Bonaventure 
Ave 

 

Springs Academy  1106 N Orange Ave  

AMI Kids Learning 
Center 

 501 Lemon St  

Carl Pugh Park  317 S West St  

Spring Park  229 Walnut St  

Vera Francis Park  1400 Martin Luther 
King Jr Blvd 

 

Augusta Savage 
Friendship Park 

 600 Walburg St  

Episcopal 
Children’s Services 

 1107 Martin Luther 
King Jr Blvd 

 

Hickory Grove Early 
Learning Center 

 310 S Oakridge Ave  

Little Hands at 
Work LLC 

 1015 Martin Luther 
King Jr Blvd 

 

All Kids Learning 
Center 

 1215 Idlewild Ave  

Page 20

Item #5.



Proclamation 
 

WHEREAS,     Dr. Carter G. Woodson, founder of the Association for the Study of Negro Life and 

History, initiated Negro History (ASNLH) week in 1926, which grew into Black History Month 

during the 1970s; and  

  

WHEREAS,     The ASNLH was renamed in later years to The Association for the Study of African American 

Life and History (ASALH). The Association for the Study of African American Life and 

History organization announces the 2025 Black History Theme, “African Americans and 

Labor”; and  

 

WHEREAS, Black History Month is so designated to recognize, honor and record the historical contributions 

and achievements made by African Americans in the Armed Forces, Architecture, Arts, Business, 

Civil Rights, Economics, Education, Entertainment, Exploration, History, Law, Literature, 

Medicine, Music, Politics, Science and Sports; and 

 

WHEREAS, February is nationally designated as Black History Month, and is annually set aside for all 

Americans to focus on the significant role African Americans have played in our Country’s 

history and in the shaping of our nation and culture; and  

 

WHEREAS, the Green Cove Springs City Council wishes to maintain and promote harmonious inter-cultural 

relations and highlight the rich ethnic and cultural diversity throughout the City of Green Cove 

Springs and Clay County. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT PROCLAIMED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GREEN 

COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA, AS FOLLOWS: 

 

Section 1. The City Council hereby proclaims the month of February 2025 as “Black History Month” in 

the City of Green Cove Springs and urges all citizens to join the Green Cove Springs City Council 

in celebrating February as Black History Month each year, and to share in the spirit of the Month 

and take part in related activities that reflect the goals of Black History Month. 

 

Section 2. A true copy of this Proclamation shall be spread upon the Official Minutes of the City Council 

of the City of Green Cove Springs. 

 

DONE AND PROCLAIMED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, 

FLORIDA, IN REGULAR SESSION THIS 21ST DAY OF JANUARY 2025. 

 

      CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

 

              

      Steven R. Kelley, Mayor 

 

      ATTEST: 

 

              

      Erin West, City Clerk 

Page 21

Item #6.



Proclamation 
WHEREAS, over the past 17 years, Carolyn Edwards has demonstrated unwavering dedication to the 
mission of Clay County Habitat for Humanity, Inc., serving with distinction as Family Services Coordinator 
for 5 years and as Executive Director for the past 12 years; and 
 
WHEREAS, Carolyn has been a champion for affordable housing, advocating tirelessly for marginalized 
families in our community and beyond, and actively working to address housing challenges at the local 
and state levels; and 
 
WHEREAS, she served as a State of Florida Certified Mediator for the Northeast Florida District, utilizing 
her skills to build bridges and foster understanding; and 
 
WHEREAS, she represented our community with honor as the District 2 Representative for the Florida 
Affiliate State Office (ASO) of Habitat for Humanity Board of Directors, ensuring our region's voice was 
heard; and 
 
WHEREAS, she contributed meaningfully as a member of the Clay County Affordable Housing Advisory 
Committee (AHAC) with the Board of County Commissioners; and 
 
WHEREAS, through her leadership, Carolyn facilitated the construction of more than 60 homes for 
marginalized families in Clay County, transforming lives and fostering stability for generations; and 
 
WHEREAS, she collaborated with local city and state governments, non-profits, and community 
organizations to drive affordable housing initiatives, strengthening partnerships and amplifying the impact 
of these efforts; and 
 
WHEREAS, she engaged directly with legislators at the local, state, and federal levels, including in 
Tallahassee and Washington, D.C., advocating for policies and resources to expand housing 
opportunities; and 
 
WHEREAS, after an illustrious career marked by compassion, service, and an unwavering commitment 
to the community, Carolyn retired from Clay County Habitat for Humanity on December 31, 2024. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT PROCLAIMED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GREEN COVE 
SPRINGS, FLORIDA, AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1. The City of Green Cove Springs hereby recognizes and celebrates Carolyn Edwards for 
her exemplary service, leadership, and advocacy, which have left a permanent mark on 
our community and set a standard of excellence for all to follow. 

 
Section 2. A true copy of this Proclamation shall be spread upon the Official Minutes of the City 

Council of the City of Green Cove Springs. 
 

DONE AND PROCLAIMED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, 
FLORIDA, IN REGULAR SESSION THIS 21ST DAY OF JANUARY 2025. 

        
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

 
 
              
       Steven R. Kelley, Mayor 
 
       ATTEST: 
 
 
              
       Erin West, City Clerk 

Page 22

Item #7.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  Regular Session MEETING DATE: January 7, 2025 

FROM: Erin West, City Clerk 

SUBJECT: City Council approval of the third amendment to the City Attorney Employment 

Agreement  Erin West 
 

BACKGROUND 

During budget workshops, the City Council agreed to increase the monthly allowance from $200 to 

$300. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

The City Attorney’s budget will show this impact 

RECOMMENDATION 

Approve the Third Amendment to the City Attorney Employment Agreement. 
 

Page 23

Item #8.



Third Amendment to City Attorney Employment Agreement 
Page 1 of 1 
Revised 1/07/25– re 

THIRD AMENDMENT TO CITY ATTORNEY 
EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 

 
This Third Amendment to City Attorney Employment Agreement is made and entered 
into between the undersigned parties on the date shown below. 

 
WITNESSETH: 

 
WHEREAS, the parties entered into the City Attorney Employment Agreement on November 5, 
2013, hereafter “Employment Agreement”; and 
 
WHEREAS, the parties have agreed that commencing October 1, 2024, the monthly allowance 
shall be $300.00. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, IN CONSIDERATION OF THE MUTUAL COVENANTS HEREIN 
CONTAINED, THE PARTIES AGREE AS FOLLOWS: 
 
SECTION 1.   

Section 4. A. of the City Attorney Employment Agreement (2013-2014) is hereby amended to read 
as follows: 

 
Section 4 Office and Staffing 

 
A. The City Attorney shall provide a private law office and staff, including paralegals, 

receptionist and associates, within the City, which shall have sufficient office space to 
conduct City business when necessary.  Furthermore, the City Attorney shall be 
responsible for purchasing all necessary supplies, files, file cabinets, law library, 
computer, programs and the like for the benefit of the City.  The City Attorney shall 
receive an allowance of $200.00 $300.00 monthly to offset some of the above out of 
pocket expenses he expends. 

 
SECTION 2. 

All other provisions of the Employment Agreement not in conflict herewith shall remain in full 
force and effect. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Third Amendment to be duly signed 
and sealed on this 7th day of January, 2025. 
 
CITY ATTORNEY: CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS: 
 
 
 
By:  By:       
       L. J. Arnold, III, City Attorney                      Steven R. Kelley, Mayor 
 
 
   ATTEST: 
 
 
 
 By:       
        Erin West, City Clerk 

Page 24

Item #8.



Second Amendment to City Attorney Employment Agreement 
Page 1 of 2 
Revised 09/07/21– re 

SECOND AMENDMENT TO CITY ATTORNEY 
EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 

        
 
 This Second Amendment to City Attorney Employment Agreement is made and entered 
into between the undersigned parties on the date shown below. 
 

WITNESSETH: 
 
 WHEREAS, the parties entered into the City Attorney Employment Agreement on 
November 5, 2013, hereafter “Employment Agreement”; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Section 3. A. of the Employment Agreement was amended in 2017 to 
increase the salary from $2,022.26 to $2,123.37 bi-weekly; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the parties have agreed that commencing October 1, 2021, the salary shall 
be $2,884.61 biweekly with annual increases thereafter of five (5) percent; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Section 1. Term of Employment of the Employment Agreement shall be 
modified to provide a four (4) year term of employment beginning October 1, 2021. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, IN CONSIDERATION OF THE MUTUAL COVENANTS 
HEREIN CONTAINED, THE PARTIES AGREE AS FOLLOWS: 
 
SECTION 1.   

 
 The Employment Agreement is hereby amended as follows: 
 
 A. The term of employment shall be for four (4) years beginning October 1, 2021. 
 
 B. The Salary shall be $2,884.61 biweekly beginning October 1, 2021, with annual 
increases of five (5) percent beginning October 1, 2022. 
 
    
SECTION 2.   
 
All other provisions of the Employment Agreement not in conflict herewith shall remain in full 
force and effect. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
   The remainder of this page intentionally left blank. 

 

Page 25

Item #8.



Second Amendment to City Attorney Employment Agreement 
Page 2 of 2 
Revised 09/7/21 - re 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Second Amendment to be duly 
signed and sealed on this ________ day of September, 2021. 
 
 
CITY ATTORNEY: CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS: 
 
 
 
By:  By:       
       L. J. Arnold, III, City Attorney                      Edward R. Gaw, Mayor 
 
 
  
 
   ATTEST: 
 
 
 
 By:       
        Erin West, City Clerk 
 

Page 26

Item #8.



Amendment to City Attorney Employment Agreement 
Page 1 of 2 
Revised 08/23/17– re 

AMENDMENT TO CITY ATTORNEY 
EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 

       (2017 – 2018) 
 
 
 This Amendment to City Attorney Employment Agreement (2013-2014) is made and 
entered into in duplicate originals this ____ day of September, 2017, between the City of Green 
Cove Springs, Florida, hereinafter referred to as the “City” or the “City Council”, as the context 
requires, and L. J. Arnold, III, hereinafter referred to as the “City Attorney”. 
 

WITNESSETH: 
 
 WHEREAS, the parties hereto entered into an employment agreement on November 5, 
2013; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the parties have agreed to amend Section 3. A. Salary and Benefits, to 
modify the salary from $2,022.26 bi-weekly to $2,123.37 which shall be effective on October 1, 
2017. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, IN CONSIDERATION OF THE MUTUAL COVENANTS 
HEREIN CONTAINED, THE PARTIES AGREE AS FOLLOWS: 
 
SECTION 1.   

 
 Section 3. A. of the City Attorney Employment Agreement (2013-2014) is hereby 
amended to read as follows: 
 
   Section 3. Salary and Benefits 
  

A. The City Attorney’s Salary hereunder shall  
be $2,022.26 $2,123.37 bi-weekly. The City  
Attorney’s payment shall be issued on the  
same basis as other Department Heads. 
At such times as deemed appropriate by the City 
Council, the City Attorney may receive salary adjustments. 

 
 

SECTION 2.   
 
 All other terms and conditions of the City Attorney Employment Agreement not 

amended herein shall remain in full force and effect. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
   The remainder of this page intentionally left blank. 

Page 27

Item #8.



Amendment to City Attorney Employment Agreement 
Page 2 of 2 
Revised 08/23/17 - re 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Amendment to City 
Attorney Employment Agreement (2013-2014) effective October 1, 2017. 
 
 
CITY ATTORNEY: CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS: 
 
 
 
By:  By:       
 L. J. Arnold, III, City Attorney  Roy M. Timberlake, Jr., Mayor 
 
 
  
 
   ATTEST: 
 
 
 
 By:       
  Julia W. Clevinger, City Clerk 
 

Page 28

Item #8.



Page 29

Item #8.



Page 30

Item #8.



Page 31

Item #8.



Page 32

Item #8.



Page 33

Item #8.



Page 34

Item #8.



Page 35

Item #8.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  City Council  MEETING DATE: January 7th, 2024 

FROM: Greg Bauer, Assistant Public Works Director 

SUBJECT: Award of Bid 2024-09, Bayard Stormwater Improvements to DB Civil Construction in the 

total amount of $875,945.00, which includes the base bid amount of $821,945.00 and 

alternate #1 amount of $54,000.00.  Greg Bauer 
 

BACKGROUND 

On the 12/19/23 Regular Session, The City Council passed Resolution No. R-26-2023, authorizing the 

City to borrow an amount not to exceed $8,560,000.00 to finance the acquisition and construction of 

certain improvements to the City’s Stormwater utility. The Bayard Stormwater Improvements includes 

approximately 1,100 LF of Storm pipe, 12 inlets, Headwall installation at Bayard Street outfall and 

partial roadway construction. 

The Project was advertised for bid on December 17th, 2024 and went through the formal bid process. 

Five (5) bids were received from DB Civil Construction, Jax Utilities Management, Kent Brothers, 

Kirby Development, and Besch and Smith Civil Group.  The lowest responsive bid was received from 

DB Civil Construction in the amount of $875,945.00.  City staff and the project engineer have all 

reviewed the bid results and agree to award the project to DB Civil Construction. 

Final invoicing will be based on actual installed quantities.  

 

FISCAL IMPACT 

Stormwater Fund- 406-3036-4307-5006307- $875,945.00.   

 The base bid is $821,945.00. 

o This portion was budgeted at $657,500.00 in the FY24-25 CIP. 

 The engineer’s probable cost of construction based on the final design was 

$775,000. 

o $318,750.00 is funded by a Legislative Line Item appropriation.  

o The remaining amount of $503,195.00 will be funded by the Stormwater Loan.  The 

amount in excess of the approved budget will be taken from the Roberts St project, which 

will be delayed. 

 

 The alternate #1 of $54,000.00 is for milling and resurfacing, which should be funded by 

General Fund and not the Stormwater Fund.  This amount is not currently budgeted, so staff is 

requesting Council approval to fund this amount from the Restricted Surtax Reserves in the 

General Fund. 

 

Page 36

Item #9.



RECOMMENDATION 

Award Bid 2024-09, Bayard Stormwater Improvements to DB Civil Construction in the total amount of 

$875,945.00, which includes the base bid amount of $821,945.00 and alternate #1 amount of 

$54,000.00. 

Page 37

Item #9.



 

City of Green Cove Springs 

Procurement 
-, - 

321 Walnut Street, Green Cove Springs, FL 32043 
 

 

 

EVALUATION TABULATION 
GEN No. 2024-09 

Bayard Street Stormwater Improvements 
RESPONSE DEADLINE: December 17, 2024 at 10:00 am 

Report Generated:  Tuesday, December 31, 2024 
 
SELECTED VENDOR TOTALS   

Vendor Total 

DB Civil Construction $875,945.00 

Jax Utilities Management, 
Inc. 

$1,073,282.79 

Kent Bros Inc $1,327,353.44 

Besch and Smith Civil 
Group 

$1,391,246.04 

Kirby Development, Inc $1,407,924.32 
 

BASE BID UNIT PRICE SHEET   

Base Bid Unit Price Sheet Besch and Smith Civil Group DB Civil Construction Jax Utilities Management, 
Inc. 

Kent Bros Inc Kirby Development, Inc 

Selected Line 
Item 

Description Quantity Unit of 
Measure 

Unit Cost Total Unit Cost Total Unit Cost Total Unit Cost Total Unit Cost Total 

X 1 Mobilization, 
Demobilizatio
n and General 

Conditions 

1 LS $100,912.1
4 

$100,912.14 $72,000.00 $72,000.00 $79,502.43 $79,502.43 $108,800.0
0 

$108,800.00 $265,680.0
0 

$265,680.00 

Page 38

Item #9.



EVALUATION TABULATION 
GEN No. 2024-09 
Bayard Street Stormwater Improvements 

 
 

EVALUATION TABULATION                     
undefined - Bayard Street Stormwater Improvements 
Page 2 

Base Bid Unit Price Sheet Besch and Smith Civil Group DB Civil Construction Jax Utilities Management, 
Inc. 

Kent Bros Inc Kirby Development, Inc 

Selected Line 
Item 

Description Quantity Unit of 
Measure 

Unit Cost Total Unit Cost Total Unit Cost Total Unit Cost Total Unit Cost Total 

X 2 Construction, 
Surveying and 

As-Built 
Drawings 

1 LS $240,198.9
9 

$240,198.99 $24,000.00 $24,000.00 $144,395.4
4 

$144,395.44 $15,000.00 $15,000.00 $92,800.00 $92,800.00 

X 3 A-3 Soil 
Backfill 

135 CY $84.16 $11,361.60 $60.00 $8,100.00 $38.00 $5,130.00 $35.60 $4,806.00 $39.00 $5,265.00 

X 4 Sod 1864 SY $12.23 $22,796.72 $5.00 $9,320.00 $12.92 $24,082.88 $9.90 $18,453.60 $10.00 $18,640.00 

X 5 Landscape 1 LS $30,145.82 $30,145.82 $500.00 $500.00 $22,100.00 $22,100.00 $25,000.00 $25,000.00 $56,000.00 $56,000.00 

X 6 Mill Asphalt 
Pavement 

2298 SY $6.62 $15,212.76 $7.00 $16,086.00 $17.11 $39,318.78 $8.25 $18,958.50 $8.00 $18,384.00 

X 7 Type B 
Stabilization 

(LBR 40) 

65 SY $40.30 $2,619.50 $65.00 $4,225.00 $23.81 $1,547.65 $110.00 $7,150.00 $26.00 $1,690.00 

X 8 Optional Base 
Group 4 (LB 

100-minimum) 

65 SY $73.73 $4,792.45 $90.00 $5,850.00 $36.25 $2,356.25 $110.00 $7,150.00 $57.00 $3,705.00 

X 9 Superpave 
Asphaltic 

Conc., Traffic 
C 

253 TN $252.10 $63,781.30 $200.00 $50,600.00 $393.00 $99,429.00 $240.50 $60,846.50 $282.00 $71,346.00 

X 10 Remove Trees 2 EA $11,674.75 $23,349.50 $1,800.00 $3,600.00 $7,872.00 $15,744.00 $2,500.00 $5,000.00 $5,600.00 $11,200.00 

X 11 Demolish 
Concrete 
Sidewalk 

34 SY $19.26 $654.84 $45.00 $1,530.00 $11.00 $374.00 $25.00 $850.00 $101.00 $3,434.00 

Page 39

Item #9.



EVALUATION TABULATION 
GEN No. 2024-09 
Bayard Street Stormwater Improvements 

 
 

EVALUATION TABULATION                     
undefined - Bayard Street Stormwater Improvements 
Page 3 

Base Bid Unit Price Sheet Besch and Smith Civil Group DB Civil Construction Jax Utilities Management, 
Inc. 

Kent Bros Inc Kirby Development, Inc 

Selected Line 
Item 

Description Quantity Unit of 
Measure 

Unit Cost Total Unit Cost Total Unit Cost Total Unit Cost Total Unit Cost Total 

X 12 Replace 
Concrete 

Sidewalk (4 
inches) 

34 SY $74.98 $2,549.32 $80.00 $2,720.00 $57.00 $1,938.00 $25.00 $850.00 $136.00 $4,624.00 

X 13 Demolish 
Concrete 
Driveway 

215 SY $25.54 $5,491.10 $45.00 $9,675.00 $11.00 $2,365.00 $25.00 $5,375.00 $106.00 $22,790.00 

X 14 Replace 
Concrete 

Driveway (6 
inches) 

215 SY $110.11 $23,673.65 $98.00 $21,070.00 $74.61 $16,041.15 $25.00 $5,375.00 $168.00 $36,120.00 

X 15 Demolish Brick 
Pavers 

5 SY $163.73 $818.65 $140.00 $700.00 $15.00 $75.00 $25.00 $125.00 $112.00 $560.00 

X 16 Replace Brick 
Pavers 

5 SY $391.20 $1,956.00 $350.00 $1,750.00 $65.00 $325.00 $25.00 $125.00 $1,200.00 $6,000.00 

X 17 Demolish 8-
inch PVC Pipe 

70 LF $180.99 $12,669.30 $25.00 $1,750.00 $10.45 $731.50 $20.00 $1,400.00 $127.00 $8,890.00 

X 18 Demolish 8-
inch Clay Pipe 

294 LF $57.10 $16,787.40 $25.00 $7,350.00 $8.88 $2,610.72 $20.00 $5,880.00 $54.00 $15,876.00 

X 19 Demolish 10-
inch Clay Pipe 

416 LF $56.03 $23,308.48 $25.00 $10,400.00 $9.29 $3,864.64 $25.00 $10,400.00 $52.00 $21,632.00 

X 20 Demolish 12-
inch Clay Pipe 

379 LF $55.54 $21,049.66 $25.00 $9,475.00 $12.00 $4,548.00 $35.00 $13,265.00 $54.00 $20,466.00 

X 21 Install DIP 8-
inch sewer 

6 LF $1,457.87 $8,747.22 $1,200.00 $7,200.00 $4,203.00 $25,218.00 $100.00 $600.00 $625.00 $3,750.00 

Page 40

Item #9.



EVALUATION TABULATION 
GEN No. 2024-09 
Bayard Street Stormwater Improvements 

 
 

EVALUATION TABULATION                     
undefined - Bayard Street Stormwater Improvements 
Page 4 

Base Bid Unit Price Sheet Besch and Smith Civil Group DB Civil Construction Jax Utilities Management, 
Inc. 

Kent Bros Inc Kirby Development, Inc 

Selected Line 
Item 

Description Quantity Unit of 
Measure 

Unit Cost Total Unit Cost Total Unit Cost Total Unit Cost Total Unit Cost Total 

X 22 Install HDPE 
18-inch pipe 

129 LF $429.09 $55,352.61 $82.00 $10,578.00 $73.52 $9,484.08 $525.00 $67,725.00 $262.00 $33,798.00 

X 23 Install HDPE 
24-inch pipe 

999 LF $264.24 $263,975.76 $98.00 $97,902.00 $122.73 $122,607.27 $545.00 $544,455.00 $229.00 $228,771.00 

X 24 Relocate 
Water Line 

1 LS $56,177.95 $56,177.95 $14,000.00 $14,000.00 $9,967.00 $9,967.00 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 $9,448.00 $9,448.00 

X 25 Install Storm 
Inlets 

10 EA $14,002.11 $140,021.10 $8,500.00 $85,000.00 $13,476.00 $134,760.00 $5,500.00 $55,000.00 $12,358.00 $123,580.00 

X 26 Conflict 
Manhole 

1 EA $11,719.33 $11,719.33 $15,000.00 $15,000.00 $25,444.00 $25,444.00 $5,500.00 $5,500.00 $18,449.00 $18,449.00 

X 27 Replace 
Manhole 

1 EA $7,956.63 $7,956.63 $10,000.00 $10,000.00 $16,772.00 $16,772.00 $4,500.00 $4,500.00 $11,427.00 $11,427.00 

X 28 Manatee 
Grate 

1 EA $4,586.22 $4,586.22 $3,800.00 $3,800.00 $6,798.00 $6,798.00 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 $11,128.00 $11,128.00 

X 29 Install Type F 
Curb and 

Gutter 

375 LF $52.09 $19,533.75 $40.00 $15,000.00 $54.00 $20,250.00 $75.00 $28,125.00 $70.00 $26,250.00 

X 30 Install Miami 
Curb and 

Gutter 

478 LF $38.08 $18,202.24 $38.00 $18,164.00 $48.00 $22,944.00 $75.00 $35,850.00 $77.00 $36,806.00 

X 31 Riprap 90 TN $205.52 $18,496.80 $200.00 $18,000.00 $580.00 $52,200.00 $125.00 $11,250.00 $410.00 $36,900.00 

X 32 Bedding Stone 90 TN $192.22 $17,299.80 $180.00 $16,200.00 $78.00 $7,020.00 $150.00 $13,500.00 $177.00 $15,930.00 

Page 41

Item #9.



EVALUATION TABULATION 
GEN No. 2024-09 
Bayard Street Stormwater Improvements 

 
 

EVALUATION TABULATION                     
undefined - Bayard Street Stormwater Improvements 
Page 5 

Base Bid Unit Price Sheet Besch and Smith Civil Group DB Civil Construction Jax Utilities Management, 
Inc. 

Kent Bros Inc Kirby Development, Inc 

Selected Line 
Item 

Description Quantity Unit of 
Measure 

Unit Cost Total Unit Cost Total Unit Cost Total Unit Cost Total Unit Cost Total 

X 33 Environmental 
Protection 

(Includes inlet 
protection, silt 

fence and 
turbidity 
barrier) 

1 LS $15,818.65 $15,818.65 $13,000.00 $13,000.00 $14,339.00 $14,339.00 $7,500.00 $7,500.00 $26,545.00 $26,545.00 

X 34 Stacked Block 
Retaining Wall 

1 LS $83,477.86 $83,477.86 $237,400.0
0 

$237,400.0
0 

$69,000.00 $69,000.00 $150,885.0
0 

$150,885.00 $72,000.00 $72,000.00 

Total  $1,345,495.1
0  $821,945.0

0  $1,003,282.7
9  $1,249,699.6

0  $1,339,884.0
0 

 

ALTERNATE 1 - MILL AND OVERLAY    

Alternate 1 - Mill and Overlay Besch and Smith Civil 
Group 

DB Civil Construction Jax Utilities 
Management, Inc. 

Kent Bros Inc Kirby Development, Inc 

Selected Line Item Description Quantity Unit of 
Measure 

Unit Cost Total Unit Cost Total Unit Cost Total Unit Cost Total Unit Cost Total 

X 1 Bid Ad 
Alternate 
for paving 
of Bayard 
Ave from 

FDOT ROW 
to the new 
asphalt on 
St. Johns 

Ave. 

1 LS $45,750.94 $45,750.94 $54,000.00 $54,000.00 $70,000.00 $70,000.00 $77,653.84 $77,653.84 $68,040.32 $68,040.32 

Total  $45,750.94  $54,000.00  $70,000.00  $77,653.84  $68,040.32 

 

Page 42

Item #9.



Page 43

Item #9.



Page 44

Item #9.



 
 

 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  City Council Regular Session MEETING DATE: January 7th ,2025 

FROM: Greg Bauer, Assistant Public Works Director 

SUBJECT: City Council approval of pay application #5 to Kirby Development, Inc. In the amount of 

$178,805.19, for the Julia Street Stormwater Improvement Project. 
 

BACKGROUND 

On the 12/19/23 Regular Session, The City Council passed Resolution No. R-26-2023, authorizing the City to 

borrow an amount not to exceed $8,560,000.00 to finance the acquisition and construction of certain 

improvements to the City’s Stormwater utility. The Julia Street Stormwater Improvement Project went through 

the formal bid process. Kirby Development, Inc. was the low bid.  

The project consists of replacing approximately 1,200 linear feet (LF) of drainage pipe. Drainage pipe sizes range 

from 18” to 36”. The drainage improvement project will consist of the installation of 6 inlets, manholes, and end 

walls. The project consists of curb and gutter, asphalt/roadway, sidewalk/driveway and riprap demolition and 

replacement. 

On 8/6/24 City Council approved Change Order #1. Change order #1 was submitted to mitigate the conflict with 

the storm drainage system and the proximity of the electrical power poles. Change Order #1 includes moving the 

drainage system away from the poles with double inlet structures and changing the pipe material to Reinforced 

Concrete Pipe (RCP). The changes will allow for the electrical power poles to be safely held in place. 

On 11/12/24 the City Council is presented with Change order #2. Change Order #2 includes the removal, 

replacement and re-mudding of three (3) sections reinforced concrete pipe (RCP), along with two riser sections 

and structure modifications needed from lowering of the pipe run between S-3 and S-4. Also included are two 

manhole conflict structures between structures S-5 and S-6. This includes the sewer removal and reconnection at 

these locations. Eight (8) contract days are requested due to Hurricanes Helene and Milton. 

Pay application #1 is presented to Council for approval in the amount of $123,926.79 

Change order #1 was submitted in the amount of $61,767.30. 

Change order #2 was submitted in the amount of $47,196.00  

Original contract amount- $1,239,910.03 

New contract amount- $1,348,873.33 

Total contract remaining- $574,011.63 

 

 

 

 

Page 45

Item #10.



 

FISCAL IMPACT 

$178,805.19 - Stormwater CIP.  

RECOMMENDATION 

Approval of pay application #5 to Kirby Development, Inc. In the amount of $178,805.19, for the Julia 

Street Stormwater Improvement Project. 
 

Page 46

Item #10.



Cover Sheet

APPLICATION FOR PAYMENT NO. 5(Five)

PROJECT

CONTRACT 

NO. 2024-02

For Work accomplished through the date of

A.  Contract and Change Orders

1.  Contract Amount

2.  Executed Change Orders

3.  Total Contract (1) + (2)

B.  Work Accomplished

4.  Work Performed on Contract Amount (1)

5.  Work Performed on Change Orders (2)

6.  Materials Stored

7.  Total Completed & Stored (4) + (5) + (6)

8.  Retainage 5%of Item (7), not to exceed 0%of Item (3)

9.  Less Previous Payments Made (or) Invoiced

10.  Payment Amount Due this Application (7) - (8) -(9)

 

Date

By

 

0

December 23, 2024 Kirby Development, Inc

Julia Street Stormwater 

Improvement Project 

1,239,910.03$          

108,963.30$             

PURCHASE 

ORDER NO.

1,348,873.33$          

December 23, 2024

792,438.76$             

The undersigned CONTRACTOR certifies that: (1) all items and amounts shown are correct; (2) all Work performed and

materials supplied fully comply with the terms and conditions of the Contract Documents; (3) all previous progress payments

received from the Owner/County on account of Work done under the Contract referred to above have been applied to discharge

in full all obligations of CONTRACTOR incurred in connection with Work covered by prior Applications of Payment; (4) title to all

materials and equipment incorporated in said Work or otherwise listed in or covered by this Application for Payment will pass to

Owner/County at time of payment free and clear of all liens, claims, security interests and encumbrances.

792,438.76$             

39,621.94$               

574,011.63$             

178,805.19$             

CONTRACTOR'S CERTIFICATIONS

CONTRACTOR

 

Page 1

Brian Kluge
Digitally signed by Brian Kluge
DN: C=US, 
E=bkluge@kirbydevelopment.com, 
O="Kirby Development, Inc", 
CN="Brian Kluge "
Date: 2024.12.23 09:30:33-05'00'

Page 47

Item #10.



KIRBY DEVELOPMENT, INC

QUANTITIES FOR PARTIAL PAYMENT

(Attachment TO APPLICATION FOR PAYMENT)

 

FROM: To: 12/23/2024

    PRIOR WORK COMPLETED     COMPLETED THIS PERIOD                  TOTAL WORK COMPLETED

Item 

No. Bid No. Description of  Item U/M

Qty                  

Bid Unit            Cost Total          Cost

Prior Qty   

Installed

Prior Work   

Completed

Units   

Installed

Completed  This 

Period

Total Units  

Installed Total   Installed %       Complete

1 Mobilization LS 1 $249,560.69 249,560.69 0.60 149,736.41 0.10 24,956.07 0.70 174,692.48 0.70

2 Maintenance of Traffic LS 1 $109,976.03 109,976.03 0.50 54,988.02 0.10 10,997.60 0.60 65,985.62 0.60

3 Sediment Barrier LF 2409 $3.29 7,925.61 0.00 0.00 852.00 2,803.08 852.00 2,803.08 0.35

4 Litter Removal AC 2.915 $2,477.76 7,222.67 0.56 1,387.55 0.00 0.00 0.56 1,387.55 0.19

5 Mowing AC 2.915 $2,151.36 6,271.21 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

6 Clearing and Grubbing AC 1.046 $59,380.96 62,112.48 0.70 41,566.67 0.10 5,938.10 0.80 47,504.77 0.76

7 Removal Of Exsting Concrete SY 729 $41.26 30,078.54 350.00 14,441.00 0.00 0.00 350.00 14,441.00 0.48

8 Type B Stabilization SY 3109 $20.67 64,263.03 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

9 Reworking Lime Rock Base, 4" SY 363 $51.40 18,658.20 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

10

Limerock- New Material for Reworking 

Base CY 4 $68.04 272.16 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

11 Optional Base Group 1 SY 2454 $28.71 70,454.34 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

12

Milling Exsting Aspahlt Pavement, 2 1/2 

Avg depth SY 363 $15.72 5,706.36 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

13 Superpave Asphalt Concrete, Traffic B TN 202.4 $204.80 41,451.52 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

14 Inlets,Curb Type J-5, <10' EA 3 $10,108.80 30,326.40 2.00 20,217.60 1.00 10,108.80 3.00 30,326.40 1.00

15 Inlets,Curb Type J-6, <10' EA 1 $14,304.40 14,304.40 1.00 14,304.40 0.00 0.00 1.00 14,304.40 1.00

16 Manhole, COJ Type J-5 < 10' EA 1 $15,342.83 15,342.83 1.00 15,342.83 0.00 0.00 1.00 15,342.83 1.00

17

PIPE CULVERT, OPTIONAL MATERIAL, 

ROUND, 30"SD LF 675 236.90$           159,907.50 550.00 130,295.00 120.00 28,428.00 670.00 158,723.00 0.99

18 12/23/2024

PIPE CULVERT, OPTIONAL MATERIAL, 

Elliptical, 30"SD LF 55 290.68$           15,987.40 0.00 0.00 55.00 15,987.40 55.00 15,987.40 1.00

19

PIPE CULVERT, OPTIONAL MATERIAL, 

ROUND, 36"SD LF 405 277.00$           112,185.00 277.00 76,729.00 128.00 35,456.00 405.00 112,185.00 1.00

CONTRACT NO.: 2024-02

PROJECT NAME:     

PHONE NO:

ADDRESS:

CONTRACTOR:

Julia Street Stormwater Improvement Project 

904-821-5010

108 Lee Road                                                     Jacksonville, Florida  32225

Kirby Development, Inc

PAY REQUEST NO.:

PURCHASE ORDER NO.:

5(Five)

0

12/4/2024

Page 2

Page 48

Item #10.



KIRBY DEVELOPMENT, INC

QUANTITIES FOR PARTIAL PAYMENT

(Attachment TO APPLICATION FOR PAYMENT)

 

FROM: To: 12/23/2024

    PRIOR WORK COMPLETED     COMPLETED THIS PERIOD                  TOTAL WORK COMPLETED

Item 

No. Bid No. Description of  Item U/M

Qty                  

Bid Unit            Cost Total          Cost

Prior Qty   

Installed

Prior Work   

Completed

Units   

Installed

Completed  This 

Period

Total Units  

Installed Total   Installed %       Complete

CONTRACT NO.: 2024-02

PROJECT NAME:     

PHONE NO:

ADDRESS:

CONTRACTOR:

Julia Street Stormwater Improvement Project 

904-821-5010

108 Lee Road                                                     Jacksonville, Florida  32225

Kirby Development, Inc

PAY REQUEST NO.:

PURCHASE ORDER NO.:

5(Five)

0

12/4/2024

20

Winged Concrete Endwals, U-Type Index 430-

040,36" EA 1 7,014.12$        7,014.12 1.00 7,014.12 0.00 0.00 1.00 7,014.12 1.00

21 Concrete Curb & Gutter, COJ Standard Curb LF 2143 44.25$             94,827.75 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

22 Concre Curb Flush Curb LF 22 43.01$             946.22 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

23 Concrete Sidewalk and Driveways, 6' Thick SY 479 129.00$           61,791.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

24 Riprap,Rubble,Bank and Shore TN 122.9 151.38$           18,604.60 122.90 18,604.60 0.00 0.00 122.90 18,604.60 1.00

25 Bedding Stone TN 52.1 80.10$             4,173.21 50.00 4,005.00 2.10 168.21 52.10 4,173.21 1.00

26 Performance Turf,Sod SY 2529 9.75$               24,657.75 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

27

Single Post Sign, F&I Ground Mount, Up to 

12SF AS 4 499.50$           1,998.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

28  

Painted Pavment 

Marking,Standard,White,Soild 24" for stop Line LF 21 87.00$             1,827.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

29  

Painted Pavment Marking,Standard,Yellow, 

Soild 6" GM 0.016 129,000.00$    2,064.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

30  CO#1 RCP Pipe LS 1 12,961.00$      12,961.00 0.90 11,664.90 0.10 1,296.10 1.00 12,961.00 1.00

31  CO#1 Double Inlet Structures LS 1 48,806.30$      48,806.30 0.90 43,925.67 0.10 4,880.63 1.00 48,806.30 1.00

32  CO# 2 Conflict Manholes EA 2 23,598.00$      47,196.00 0.00 0.00 2.00 47,196.00 2.00 47,196.00 1.00

TOTALS 1,348,873.33 604,222.77 188,215.99 792,438.76

     

 

Page 3

Page 49

Item #10.



 
 

CERTIFICATE OF PARTIAL PAYMENT 
 

PAYMENT # __________ 
 
TOTAL DUE THIS PAYMENT_______________ 
 
CERTIFICATE OF THE VENDOR:  According to the best of my knowledge and belief, I certify 
that all items and amounts shown on the face of this certificate are correct and that all work has 
been performed and/or material applied in full accordance with the terms and conditions of the 
contract.  I further certify that all subcontractors and suppliers having an interest in the contract 
have been provided their pro rata shares of the payment out of previous progress payments 
received for all work completed and materials furnished in the previous period, less any 
retainage withheld by the prime contractor pursuant to an agreement with a subcontractor.  I 
further certify that within 10 days after receipt of payment hereon the contractor shall remit 
payment due to those subcontractors and suppliers hired by the contractor that furnished labor, 
services, or materials, the undisputed cost of which to the contractor is reflected in the payment 
application for which this certificate is issued.  I further certify that the contractor will ensure 
that any subcontractor receiving such payment shall within 7 days thereafter remit payment due 
to subcontractors and suppliers hired by the subcontractor that furnished labor, services, or 
materials, the cost of which to the subcontractor is reflected in the payment application for which 
this certificate is issued. 
 
 
Date: __________ Vendor: ________________________________________ By: ___________ 
 
 
 

4

$152,666.01

12/3/2024 Kirby Development, Inc Brian Kluge
Digitally signed by Brian Kluge
DN: C=US, 
E=bkluge@kirbydevelopment.com, 
O="Kirby Development, Inc", 
CN="Brian Kluge "
Date: 2024.12.23 09:30:53-05'00'

Page 50

Item #10.

bklug
Rectangle

bklug
Text Box
$178,805.19

bklug
Text Box
5

bklug
Text Box
12/23/2024



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  City Council Regular Session MEETING DATE: January 7 ,2025 

FROM: Greg Bauer, Assistant Public Works Director 

SUBJECT: City Council Approve Pay Application #9 for the West Street CDBG Stormwater 

Improvements and Highland Sidewalk Improvements to Besch and Smith in the amount of 

$52494.74. 

  
 

BACKGROUND 

This project award incorporates two sections of the 2020 CDBG-NR grant that the City received in 

2021.  This project will construct the sidewalk portion as well as the stormwater portion of the grant 

project, with the CDBG grant funding $600,000 of the work. 

The city received two bids on this project.  Besch and Smith submitted a bid of $4,963,773.23 and CGC 

submitted a bid of $9,111,431.00.  The Besch and Smith bid is approximately $2,000,000 over budget.  

Staff met with Besch and Smith and identified $263,413.53 is value engineering opportunities as well as 

at least $334,400.50 in direct purchasing opportunities, which will result in approximately $23,000 in 

tax savings by the City purchasing the materials directly. 

The recommended award amount of $4,700,359.70 includes the reduction of $263,413.53 in value 

engineering items for the stormwater portion of the project.  The direct purchase items will be removed 

from the contract by change order once awarded to realize the tax savings to be applied to the 

stormwater portion of the project as well.  Staff recommends award of the project to Besch and Smith in 

the amount of $4,700,359.70. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

As presented, the sidewalk portion of the project is $670,223.49.  This item is not specifically included 

in the FY 2024 approved budget; rather it was not completed in FY 2023.  This portion of the contract 

will be funded by: 

 $267,000 in CDBG grant funds, and 

 $403,223.49 in funds re-allocated from the “Dirt Road Paving Program” line item upon Council 

approval.   

o As discussed during the budget process this year, the City does not intend to use dirt 

road funding to pave dirt roads. 

The stormwater portion of the project represents the remaining $4,030,136.21.  This portion of the 

project will be funded by: 

 $1,000,000 of unexpended funds from the FY 2023 CIP budget for this project, 

 $333,000 in CDBG grant funds,  

 $1,176,936 in stormwater loan proceeds intended for this project, and  

Page 51

Item #11.



 $1,520,200.21 in stormwater loan proceeds intended for the Oakridge and Highland project 

upon Council approval. 

This stormwater funding plan along with the incorporation of the $8,500,000 loan and additional loan-

funded projects will be presented to Council at a future meeting in a formal budget amendment. 

Original contract price- $4,030,136.21 

Remaining contract amount- $298,791.90 

Please note for record keeping purposes pay application #1 was submitted in April with the amount of 

$0.00 requested. The contractor began construction on the sidewalk portion of the project during this 

time period. 

RECOMMENDATION 

Approve Pay Application #9 for the West Street CDBG Stormwater Improvements and Highland 

Sidewalk Improvements to Besch and Smith in the amount of $52,494.74. 
 

Page 52

Item #11.



Page 53

Item #11.



Page 54

Item #11.



Page 55

Item #11.



Page 56

Item #11.



Page 57

Item #11.



Page 58

Item #11.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  City Council Regular Session MEETING DATE: January 7, 2025 

FROM: Scott Schultz, Asst. Water Utilities Director 

SUBJECT: City Council approval of the Sawcross (Tender Contractor) Pay Request #8, in the amount 

of $178,362.50, and authorization for the mayor to execute Disbursement Request # 24 (to 

follow), for construction of the Harbor Road Advanced Wastewater Treatment Facility 

(HRAWWTF), as part of the Florida Department of Environmental Protection (FDEP), 

State Revolving Fund (SRF), Harbor Road Water Reclamation Facility (WRF) Expansion, 

Phase 2, SRF Agreement No. WW1000420. 
 

BACKGROUND 

On June 7, 2016, Council provided direction for staff to pursue “Scenario #3” (See excerpt from the June 7th 
staff report) sewer system expansion/improvements.   
 
Excerpt from the June 7, 2016 Staff Report 
 
“At the October 20, 2015 meeting, Council authorized submittal of a loan application under the Florida 
Department of Environmental Protection (FDEP) State Revolving Fund (SRF) program for the “Phase I” 
planning portion of the project which would be completed by Mittauer & Associates.  In addition, the Council 
approved a task order to Mittauer & Associates to prepare the planning documents necessary to secure 
capital financing under the SRF Program to complete a Facilities Plan, Environmental Plan, Capital 
Financing Plan, and associated Special Studies.”  
 
The staff report reviewed additional aspects of the analysis to date, and summarized three main 
development scenarios the City was considering.  They are outlined as follows: 
 
Scenario 1:      AWWTP only (no reclaimed water improvements) 
Scenario 2:      AWWTP and Reclaimed Water System Improvements 
Scenario 3:     AWWTP, Reclaimed Water System, and Existing Collection System Improvements 
 
As a result of the discussions and preliminary analysis, the City selected Scenario 3, which had the following 
implications: 
 
“Scenario 3 – AWWTP, reclaimed water system improvements and collection system improvements (repair 
and replacement of clay lines city-wide) 
 
                       Project Cost                            $35,181,000 
                       Loan Amount                          $28,681,000 
                       Retained Earnings                    $1,000,000 
                       Impact Fee Revenue                $1,200,000 
                       Grants                                       $4,300,000  
                       Annual Loan Payment              $1,316,100” 
 
The costs are planning-level values and the annual loan payment will be based on final bid prices, interest 

Page 59

Item #12.



rates at the time of construction loan acquisition, and accumulated grants/retained earnings/impact-fee 
revenue. Each scenario was reviewed with the following common variables: All scenarios assumed a 2% 
increase in the number of wastewater customers each year through FY’20 and a 0.5% increase each year 
from FY’21 through FY’25.All scenarios assumed $6,500,000 available in grant funding, retained earnings, 
and impact fee revenue dedicated to the project up front in order to reduce the total loan repayment 
amount.  Retained earnings is estimated at $1,000,000.  Impact fee revenue is estimated at 
$1,200,000.  Grant funding from all sources is estimated at $4,300,000.  Although, as indicated earlier in this 
writing, we may qualify for 45% grant funds from SRF, the total dollar amount available each year for grant 
funding is limited.  Staff feels that $4,300,000 is a reasonably conservative and prudent estimate as to the 
amount of grant dollars we may receive.  However, depending on the number of projects funded by the SRF 
program in the next two years and the amount of grant funding available, that number can certainly increase. 
All scenarios assume a 2.2%, 30-year loan repayment which is in line with the Capital Financing Plan 
formulas.  However, based on recent interest rate history in the SRF program and use of interest rate buy-
downs such as requiring Davis-Bacon wage requirements and Buy-American provisions of the contractor, 
we may be able to realize lower interest rates when our loan is actually processed.  The 30-year loan 
timeline contemplates repayments from FY’21 through FY’50.Reynolds Park re-development is not factored 
in to any of the scenarios. 
 
On August 10, 2016, SRF staff approved SRF Project # 100400 granting the City of Green Cove Springs a 
$2,261,200.00 loan with a principal forgiveness amount of $1,491,035.00 to address the project’s design, 
permitting, and SSES needs.  These tasks were completed and the project has been completed / closed. 
 
On October 18, 2016, the City Council adopted after second and final reading, Ordinance O-13-2016, 
authorizing the expenditures of up to $34,158,100.00 for capital improvements to the City's wastewater 
treatment, wastewater collection and reclaimed water systems 
 
On August 8, 2018, FDER SRF staff approved SRF Project # 100400 granting the City of Green Cove 
Springs a $6,120,600.00 loan with a principal forgiveness amount of $4,063,425.00 for Phase I Construction 
which includes reclaimed water, electrical and improvements to Lift Stations #2 and #4. 
 
On October 2, 2018 Council approved Resolution No. R-29-2018, a Resolution authorizing staff to submit 
and mayor to execute a loan application to the Florida Department of Environmental Protection (FDEP) 
State Revolving Fund (SRF) loan program for Phase I Construction of the Consolidated Advanced 
Wastewater Treatment Plant (AWWTP) and associated Lift Station Improvements. 
 
On December 4, 2018, council approved and authorized the execution of the contract  for SRF Project # 
100400 granting the City of Green Cove Springs a $6,120,600.00 loan with a principal forgiveness amount 
of $4,063,425.00 for Phase I Construction which includes reclaimed water, electrical and improvements to 
Lift Stations #2 and #4. 
 
On March 19, 2019, Council approved bid tabulations and awarded Sawcross the plant portion, and R2T the 
lift station portion, of the Phase I construction. 
 
Phase I construction being completed in May of 2020, Council authorized staff to submit a Request for 
Inclusion (RFI) to the Florida Department of Environmental Protection (FDEP) State Revolving Fund (SRF) 
for Construction Phase II, which includes construction of a 1.25 million gallon per day (MGD) - annual 
average daily flow (AADF), advanced wastewater treatment facility (AWWTF), in the amount of 
$18,165,500.00. 
 
On August 12, 2020, the FDEP SRF program awarded the City a $12,000,000.00, 20 year loan, with 
$4,452,835.00 in principal forgiveness (grant).  Due to a limitation of available funds, the SRF program 
withheld $6,186,500.00 in requested funds, which will be reviewed for award and addition to the current loan 
the next award period. 

On 10/6/2020 City Council approved Resolution No. R-27-2020, a Resolution authorizing staff to submit and 
Mayor to execute the loan application for SRF Loan # 100401 to the Florida Department of Environmental 
Protection (FDEP) State Revolving Fund (SRF) loan program for Phase II Construction of the Consolidated 

Page 60

Item #12.



Advanced Wastewater Treatment Plant (AWWTP) in the amount of $12,000,000.00 with a principal 
forgiveness (grant) amount of $4,452,835.00 providing for an actual repayment amount of $7,547,165.00. 

On 1/19/2021 the City Council approved of, and authorized the Mayor, City Attorney and City Clerk to  
execute, the Clean Water State Revolving Fund (SRF), Construction Loan Agreement WW100420, Grant 
Agreement SG 100421 for Phase II Construction of the Consolidated Advanced Wastewater Treatment 
Plant (AWWTP) in the amount of $12,000,000.00 with a principal forgiveness (grant) amount of 
$4,452,835.00 providing for an actual repayment amount of $7,547,165.00.  The original loan request was 
for $18,106,500.00.  Due to limited funds, the SRF program limited the award to $12,000,000.00, with the 
plan to award the city an additional $6,106,500.00 in July 2021. 

On February 2, 2021, eight Sealed Bids were opened for the construction of the above referenced project.  
Williams Industrial was determined to be the lowest qualified bidder.  The estimated budget / original SRF 
loan request was for $18,106,500.00.  This project came in under projected budget, including the Additive 
Alternates.  

On February 16, 2021 Council approved the Engineers Recommendation of Award to Williams Industrial 
Services, LLC. 

On March 16, 2021, Council approved and executed the contract between the city and Williams Industrial. 

On July 19, 2023, Williams Industrial abandoned the site and filed bankruptcy.  Since that time staff have 
been working with the Surety (performance bond insurance company) to replace Williams Industrial with a 
substitute contractor to finish construction.   

The Surety, in cooperation with city staff, has selected Sawcross Inc. as the completion contractor (referred 
to in legal documents as the Tender Contractor).  The City and Sawcross now have the standard Owner / 
Contractor relationship and Sawcross is completing the construction of the facility. 

The following items have been received. 

 Fully Executed Tender & Release Agreement 

 Performance and Payment Bond from Sawcross to the City 

 Executed Debarment Form from Sawcross to the City. 

 
Due to the bankruptcy of Williams Industrial, and the subsequent hiring of Sawcross as the Tender 
Contractor, the cost to complete the plant rose from $2,640,255.19 to $4,713,219.00. The surety paid the 
city $2,072,963.81 over and above the original contract price. 
 
The remaining $92,245.51 of grant funds provided by the St. Johns River Water Management District 
(SJRWMD) were expended with Tender Contractors Pay Request #6. 
 
Soon to follow will be Disbursement Request #23 for the mayors execution. 
 

FISCAL IMPACT 

$178,362.50 from the Wastewater CIP Budget 

RECOMMENDATION 

Approve Sawcross (Tender Contractor) Pay Request #8, in the amount of $178,362.50, and authorize the 

mayor to execute Disbursement Request # 24 

Page 61

Item #12.



Page 62

Item #12.



Page 63

Item #12.



Page 64

Item #12.



Page 65

Item #12.



Page 66

Item #12.



Page 67

Item #12.



Page 68

Item #12.



Page 69

Item #12.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA  

TO:  Site Development Review Team MEETING DATE: January 7, 2025 

FROM: Gabriel Barro, Development Services 

SUBJECT: City Council approval of the Clay Habitat - Palmer Trace Final Plat Michael Daniels 
 

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION 

APPLICANT:     Clay Habitat for Humanity OWNER: Clay Habitat for Humanity 

PROPERTY LOCATION: First Ave 

PARCEL NUMBER: 018209-000-00 

FILE NUMBER: PLF-24-004 

CURRENT ZONING:  R2 

FUTURE LAND USE DESIGNATION: Neighborhood 

SURROUNDING LAND USE 

NORTH: FLU: Neighborhood 

Z: R2 

Use: Single Family Home 

SOUTH: FLU: Neighborhood 

Z: R2 

Use: Single Family Home 

EAST: FLU: Neighborhood 

Z: Institutional  

Use: CC Building of Commerce 

WEST: FLU: Mixed-Use 

Z: R2 

Use: Single Family Home 

BACKGROUND 

The Applicant has submitted a request to re-plat a vacant property located on the corner of Palmer Street 

and First Avenue, which will create three lots, two of which will face Cypress St, and the other will face 

Center St. Under the zoning for the property, development must have the following minimums: 

 Detached SF Commercial 

Lot Area 5,000 square feet  None 

Lot Width 50 feet None 

Front & Rear Yard Setback 20 feet/10 feet 10 feet 

Side Yard Setback 5 feet 10 feet 

 

 

Page 70

Item #13.



STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends approval of the Clay Habitat Palmer Trace Final Plat. 

 

Page 71

Item #13.



Page 72

Item #13.



Page 73

Item #13.



Page 74

Item #13.



Page 75

Item #13.



Page 76

Item #13.



Page 77

Item #13.



Page 78

Item #13.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  Regular Session MEETING DATE: January 7, 2025 

FROM: Erin West 

SUBJECT: City Council approval of a scrivener’s error.  Erin West 
 

BACKGROUND 

On the August 6, 2024 Council voted to approve Resolution No. R-12-2024.  In the resolution Section 1 

provided the following dates: July 1, 2023 through June 30, 2024.  Those dates should read July 1, 2024 

through June 30, 2025. 

 

FISCAL IMPACT 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

Approve the scrivener’s error in Resolution No. R-12-2024. 
 

Page 79

Item #14.



RESOLUTION NO. R-12-2024 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GREEN COVE 

SPRINGS, FLORIDA AUTHORIZING AMENDMENT NO. 8 TO THE 

TRAFFIC SIGNAL MAINTENANCE AND COMPENSATION AGREEMENT, 

CONTRACT NO. ARV47, WITH THE FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF 

TRANSPORTATION. 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council and the Florida Department of Transportation desires 

to renew the Traffic Signal Maintenance and Compensation Agreement setting forth 

the various rights, duties and responsibilities for the City maintenance and operation 

of traffic signals or signal systems on the State Highway System. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS AS FOLLOWS: 

 

SECTION 1. The City Council of the City of Green Cove Springs hereby authorizes 

Amendment No. 8 of the Traffic Signal Maintenance and Compensation Agreement, 

Contract No. ARV47, between the City and the Florida Department of Transportation 

dated July 1, 2024 through June 30, 2025. 

 

SECTION 2. The City Manager is hereby authorized to execute said Amendment 

to the Traffic Signal Maintenance and Compensation Agreement, Contract No. 

ARV47, attached hereto and marked Exhibit “A”. 

 

DONE AND RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA, IN REGULAR SESSION THIS 6TH 

DAY OF AUGUST, 2024. 
 

      CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 
 

 

 

              

      Steven Kelley, Mayor 
 

ATTEST: 
 

 

 

       

Erin West, City Clerk 
 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 

 

 

       

L. J. Arnold, III, City Attorney 

Page 80

Item #14.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  City Council Regular Session MEETING DATE: January 7, 2025 

FROM: Mike Null, Asst. City Manager 

SUBJECT: Approval of task order to Forefront Architecture and Engineering in the amount of 

$105,000.00 for the RFQ No. 2024-06 – CDBG-CV Cafetorium Architectural Services 

project.  Mike Null 
 

BACKGROUND 

Since 2021, the City has advertised for a firm to provide architectural services to design the rehab of the 

Cafetorium building at the Augusta Savage Arts and Community Center.  The first two advertisements 

yielded zero proposals.  Staff then worked for a period of time with the State to hopefully allow us to 

use a design-build approach.  However, this has never been done in the CDBG program and they were 

unwilling to move forward in that direction. 

This third advertisement yielded two responses from Forefront Architecture and Engineering, and Jerel 

McCants Architecture, Inc.  The selection committee met on December 3 to review the proposals.  The 

committee consisted of Steve Kennedy, City Manager, Mike Null, Asst. City Manager, and Greg Bauer, 

Asst. Public Works Director.  They unanimously selected Forefront as the top respondent. 

Council approved award of the RFQ to Forefront at the December 10, 2024 council meeting and 

directed staff to return with a task order for approval.  Attached is a task order for Forefront to complete 

the necessary design to complete the project, assist in permitting and provide construction engineering 

services for this project.  The proposed amount is $105,000 for this project, which staff feels is 

reasonable. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

This project is 100% grant funded.  This task order is $105,000.00 of the $1,397,600.00 grant. 

RECOMMENDATION 

Approve task order to Forefront Architecture and Engineering in the amount of $105,000.00 for the 

RFQ No. 2024-06 – CDBG-CV Cafetorium Architectural Services project. 
 

Page 81

Item #15.



Page 82

Item #15.



Page 83

Item #15.



Page 84

Item #15.



Page 85

Item #15.



Page 86

Item #15.



Page 87

Item #15.



Page 88

Item #15.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  Regular Session MEETING DATE: January 7, 2025 

FROM: L.J. Arnold, III, City Attorney 

SUBJECT: First reading of Ordinance No. O-01-2025, which addresses items abandoned on City 

property.  L.J. Arnold, III 
 

BACKGROUND 

Interim Police Chief Shaun Hines requested my office update Section 62-147, Rubbish, of the City Code 

to add additional clarification to how the City treats abandoned personal items left on City property. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

None of any significance 

RECOMMENDATION 

Approve Ordinance No. O-01-2025 on first reading as to form only. 
 

Page 89

Item #16.



ORDINANCE NO. 0-01-2025 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GREEN 

COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA, AMENDING CITY CODE SECTION 62-147 

ENTITLED RUBBISH TO ADD ADDITIONAL PROHIBITED ITEMS FROM 

BEING LEFT OR ABANDONED IN CITY PARKS AND OTHER AREAS; 

PROVIDING FOR ENFORCEMENT; AND PROVIDING FOR REPEALER, 

SEVERABILITY AND SETTING AN EFFECTIVE DATE.  

 

WHEREAS, Spring Park and other City owned areas are being used for placing 

rubbish and other materials and items causing the areas to be cluttered and unsightly, 

which causes the City to spend extra time in cleaning up such City property.  

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ENACTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA AS FOLLOWS: 

 

SECTION 1. Recitals. The above recitals are true and correct and incorporated herein 

by reference.  

 

SECTION 2. City Code Section 62-147 entitled “Rubbish” is hereby amended as 

follows: 

 

Sec. 62-147 Rubbish 
 

No person in any park or recreational facility shall throw, place, cast, deposit, dump 

or cause to be thrown any ashes, refuse, offal, vegetation, garbage, dross, cinders, 

shells, straws, shavings, paper, scraps, dirt or like matter, filth or rubbish of any 

kind in any park, square, avenue, grounds, or recreational area, except to place such 

matter in cans or receptacles provided for such matter. Furthermore, no person shall 

leave unattended in City parks or other City owned property except in marked 

docking or parking areas for such items, the following: bikes, scooters, kayaks, 

paddle boards, canoes, dinghies, milk crates, bulk trash or large personal items or 

any like kind of personal property. Any such items left unattended may be removed 

by the City at the owner’s expense and shall be deemed to be abandoned.   

 

SECTION 3. Repealer. Any Ordinances or parts thereof in conflict with the 

provisions of this Ordinance are hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict.  

 

SECTION 4. Severability. The various parts, sections and clauses of this Ordinance 

are hereby declared severable. If any part, sentence, paragraph, section or clause is 

adjudged unconstitutional or invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, the 

remainder of the Ordinance shall not be affected thereby.  

 

SECTION 5. Effective Date. This Ordinance shall become effective upon passage.  

 

INTRODUCED AND APPROVED AS TO FORM ONLY ON THE FIRST 

Page 90

Item #16.



Ordinance No. O-01-2025 

Page 2 of 2 

READING BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, 

FLORIDA, THIS 7TH DAY OF JANUARY, 2025. 

 

      CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

 

              

                                                                        Steven R. Kelley, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

       

Erin West, City Clerk 

 

PASSED ON SECOND AND FINAL READING BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF GREEN 

COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA, THIS 21ST DAY OF JANUARY, 2025.  

 

CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

 

              

                                                                        Steven R. Kelley, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

       

Erin West, City Clerk 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

       

L. J. Arnold, III, City Attorney 

Page 91

Item #16.



 

        ELECTRIC DEPARTMENT             
 

 

Significant activities for the month of November 2024 
 
 

 

   7   Streetlights repaired 

   3   New streetlights installed 

 34   Meters replaced 

   5   Permanent meters installed 

   2   Temporary meters installed 

   2   Voltage checks 

   1   Utility verification 

   8   Poles removed 

   6 New poles installed 
 
 

 
 

In addition to the activities listed above, the Electric Department also: 

 

 Conducted daily morning safety meetings. 

 Conducted daily truck inspections. 

 Trimmed limbs and vines from power lines and poles. 

 Unloaded transformers and supplies as they came in. 

 Inspect/locate ROW permits. 

 Conduct warehouse inventory/order supplies. 

 1607 Lucas Ave., house fire, we de-energized service at the pole . 

 4326 US 17,installed new cutouts, LA’s and animal guard wire. 

 1006 Bunker Ave., change out CT’s, wire and meter to transformer. 

 1470-1499 Mahama Bluff., remove 4 spans of triplex and installed 2 multi helix and pulled guy wires.  

 2988 Rosecrans Ln., covered up wires for tree trimming. 

 1219 Martin L. King Jr Blvd.,  held pole along Spruce St. for stormwater project.   

 501 S Orange Ave., remove temporary switch and temporary crossarm arm to put circuit back 

accordingly. 

 975 Martin Ave., re-attached 4” u-guard on riser pole.  

 965 Leonard C. Taylor Pkwy., changed out dual voltage transformer for conventional 23KV. 

 1315 Energy Cove Ct., changed out 3 phase pad-mount to 23KV straight primary voltage. 

 Magnolia Ave., fixed banners. 

Page 92

Item #17.

http://www.greencovesprings.com/


During the month of November, the Electric Department 

responded to the following outages: 

 

11/10/2024 – Between 6:00 a.m. – 7:30 a.m1462 Mahama Bluff, re-fused blown cutout , 1 customer affected. 

11/10/2024 – Between 4:00 p.m. – 7:00 p.m., 1219 Forbes St., repaired broken service wire, 1 customer 

affected. 

11/12/2024 – Between 8:00 a.m. – 10:00 a.m., 4326 US 17 S., re-fused blown cutout, 1 customer affected. 

11/20/2024 – Between 4:10 p.m. – 4:45 p.m., 1607 Elsie St., blown transformer fuse, 5 customers affected. 

11/30/2024 – Between 11:30 a.m. – 12:40 p.m., 300 Gum St., blown transformer fuse , 1 customer affected. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 93

Item #17.



Electric Utility Top Consumption Customers (kwh/meter) for 

November: 

NAME                             SERVICE ADDRESS           KWH                 AMOUNT 

Clay County Jail                                   901 N. Orange Ave.              207,960             $ 23,554.73 

Winn Dixie Stores, Inc                        3260 Hwy. 17 N.   182,800             $ 20,350.46 

St. Johns Landing            1408 N. Orange Ave.              168,910             $ 20,496.96 

Kindred Health                                801 Oak St.               167,000             $ 18,548.07 

Clay County Court House                  825 N. Orange Ave.              150,200                        $ 17,762.85 

Permabase Building Products          1767 Wildwood Rd.                     139,360                         $ 15,592.02 

BD Of Public Instruction                    2025 State Road 16                     126,200             $ 16,210.73 

Tamko Roofing Products           914 Hall Park Rd.              114,560             $ 15,194.54 

BD Of County Commissioner            825 N. Orange Ave.              101,120             $ 11,474.44 

Oak Street Opco LLC                        803 Oak St.                  82,800             $   9,648.42 

BD Of Public Instruction                    Clay High School                               81,840                       $ 11,771.29 

City of Green Cove Springs           1277 Harbor Road                          80,720                        $   8,868.82 

Duval Asphalt Products, Inc.            1921 Jersey Ave. (EAST END)         68,400                        $  11,672.31 

City of Green Cove Springs           Set Street Lights                              66,392                        $   8,630.16 

Garber Realty/GMC                           3340 Highway 17                             64,320                        $   7,712.41 

BD Of County Commissioner            477 Houston St. (DMV)                  57,920                        $   7,087.10 

Coral Ridge Foods, GC                       1165 N Orange Ave.                        56,560                        $   6,485.28 

BD Of Public Instruction                    1 N Oakridge Ave.                           55,920                        $    8,106.66 

Direct Tv/ AT&T Services, Inc.          512 Center St.                                  46,400                        $    5,257.53 

City of Green Cove Springs               925 S R 16 East SOUTH WWTP     43,120                         $   4,977.10 

BD Of Public Instruction                    801 Center St.                                  39,840                         $   5,077.20 

Ammcon Corp.                                    1503 County Rd. 315 Ste. 201       39,300                         $   5,732.72 

BD Of Public Instruction                    1220 Bonaventure Ave.                  37,920                         $   4,962.55 

BD Of Public Instruction                    608 Mill St.                                        36,880                         $   5,325.91 
Page 94

Item #17.



Electric Utility Department Capital Projects: 

Pole top switch replacement 

This project began 09-18-2019 with the installation of switches at Governors Creek for restoration plan of 

isolation of north feeder across Governors Creek Bridge during extreme emergencies. Project is now in the 

inspection and evaluation process involving Chapman 2 extension to Harbor Rd and load transfer of Chapman 1 

to Chapman 2.  

 

13kV to 23kv Conversion – US17 from Harbor Road to CR 315 

Planning for this project has begun.  This project will continue the Chapman 1 and Chapman 2 circuits north of 

Harbor Road to provide capacity and reliability for existing and future customers north of Governors Creek.  

Materials for this project are being funded by a DEO Grant. Materials have arrived and are being installed 

 

Governors Creek Hardening Project 

This project will allow the overhead conductor crossing Governors Creek to be placed underground from Grove 

Street to Harbor Road. This project has been split into two phases: (1) design and permitting and (2) 

construction.  It is 75% funded by a FEMA HMGP grant. Phase 1 is complete. The project is now being 

evaluated by FDEM and FEMA funding for the construction phase. Once funding is in place and a contract is 

executed, bidding and construction should take approximately 9 months. This project will also support the 

extension of Chapman 1 and Chapman 2 circuits north of Governors Creek to provide additional capacity and 

reliability for all customers north of Governors Creek. 

Page 95

Item #17.



 

North and South Substation Improvements 

North and South substation sub-station upgrades have begun with directional bore designs completed to install 

URD 23KV feeds to substation transformers eliminating the possibility of catastrophic failure in the event of 

lightning or material failure which could cause conductor to fall into existing buss work.  

 

Page 96

Item #17.



     City of Green Cove Springs 
(904) 297-7500     321 Walnut Street              Green Cove Springs, FL 32043 
Florida Relay – Dial 7-1-1          www.greencovesprings.com 

M E M O R A N D U M 
 
To:  Steve Kennedy, City Manager 
 
From:  Development Services Department 
 
Date:  December 9, 2024 
 
Subject: Monthly Planning, Code Enforcement and Building Report for October 2024 
 
 
PLANNING 
4 new business licenses were issued, and 4 licenses were renewed.  

 New Businesses: 
o Stonabilities Inc.  
o Magic Flavor 
o A+ Gutters LLC 
o Superior Construction  

 
Total Business Tax Revenue for November was $1,150.00  
 
During the month of November: 

 Began or continue reviewing the following planning applications:  
 Clay Habitat Palmer Street Re-Plat  
 Rookery Phase 2A Plat 
 Rookery Phase 3A and 3B Preliminary Plat and Improvement Plan 
 Palmer Trace Subdivision 
 Springs Church Site Development Plan 
 Northeast Florida Pool Services Site Development Plan 
 200 N Vermont PUD 
 Energy Cove Warehouse/Showroom Buildings 
 Wolfe Brothers Storage Site Plan 
 Outdoor Seating for Reds Wine Bar  
 Outdoor Seating for Sunrise to Sunset 
 Special Events for FCA Paddlemasters, Pickin’ in the Park & FIHS Fundraiser 
 Walnut Plaza 

 The following applications were approved:  
 Annexation, Future Land Use and Zoning of Wolfe Brothers Storage Property 
 Annexation, Future Land Use and Zoning of Miller Environmental Property 
 Eden Butler Subdivision 
 Magnolia Trace Subdivision 
 Special Event for Dinklebells Pickleball Tournament 
 MLK Blvd Lot Split 

 24 lien search requests, and 7 new permit applications were submitted. 
 Approval of Change Order 2 for the Rivers House Restoration 
 Revenues for Planning related fees for November were $7,054.65. 

Page 97

Item #17.



CODE ENFORCEMENT  

In November, there was 1 new enforcement complaint filed. A total of $10,762.50 in Code Enforcement 

fines were collected in November. 

Compliance for November courtesy notice of violation/notice of violations: 

• No courtesy notices of violation/notice of violation were complied with. 
• No notices of violation were voluntarily complied with.  

• 0 notices of violation from previous months compliance were achieved resulting in case closure. 

• 0 courtesy notices of violation from previous months compliance were achieved resulting in closure. 

• 269 cases courtesy notices of violation/notice of violation complied year to date. 

New Code Enforcement Cases for November 2024 

 
BUILDING 
Building permit activity decreased 13.11% from October to November. The total number of building permits 
issued in October was 61 compared to 53 in November. Permit activity for November 2024 decreased by 
18.46% from November 2023.   
 
All building permits met the 30-day processing target for November 2024. 
 
Revenues for Building related fees for November were $14,415.90. 
 

NOVEMBER 2024 PERMIT SUMMARY 

RESIDENTIAL NEW 1 

COMMERCIAL NEW 2 

RESIDENTIAL ADDITION 3 

COMMERCIAL ADDITION 1 

RESIDENTIAL REMODEL / 
 IMPROVEMENT 1 

COMMERCIAL REMODEL /  
IMPROVEMENT 0 

DEMOLITION 0 

Page 98

Item #17.



SIGNS 0 

POOLS 0 

RE-ROOFING 13 

FENCES 4 

MECHANICAL / ELECTRICAL / PLUMBING                                      23 

OTHER PERMITS 5 

TOTAL PERMITS ISSUED 53 
 
 

 
 
 

Active Building Permits 11/01/2024-11/30/2024 

 

  

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12

MONTHLY PERMIT ACTIVITY 2022
2023
2024

Page 99

Item #17.



Reporting
Group

Permit 
Type

Number
Submitted

Number
Issued

Issued
Within 30

Issued
Over 30

Mean Time 
to Issue

Standard 
Deviation

Average
Cycles

Any ALCOHOL LICENSE 1 0 0 0 0 0 1

CHANGE OF USE 4 0 0 0 0 0 1

COMMERCIAL 
ADDITION

1 1 1 0 1 0 1

COMMERCIAL NEW 0 2 2 0 19 2.83 2

COUNTY ELECTRIC 1 0 0 0 6 0 1

COUNTY WATER 1 0 0 0 1 0 1

ELECTRIC 
COMMERCIAL NEW

2 2 2 0 0 0 1

ELECTRIC 
RESIDENTIAL

8 4 4 0 0 0 1

ELECTRIC 
RESIDENTIAL NEW

2 2 2 0 0 0 1

FENCE 4 4 4 0 4 3.32 1

GAS RESIDENTIAL 2 1 1 0 5 0 1

IRRIGATION 2 2 2 0 0 0 1

LIEN SEARCH 
REQUEST

25 0 0 0 1 1.38 1

MECHANICAL 
COMMERCIAL

1 1 1 0 0 0 1

MECHANICAL 
RESIDENTIAL

8 7 7 0 0 0.38 1

MECHANICAL 
RESIDENTIAL NEW

3 2 2 0 0 0 1

OCCUPANCY 0 1 1 0 0 0 1

OUTDOOR SALES 2 0 0 0 0 0 1

PLUMBING 
COMMERCIAL

2 0 0 0 0 0 1

Permit Summary

30-Day Permit Statistics

11/01/2024 to 11/30/2024

Page 1 of 2

Report run on: 12/09/2024 11:19 AM

Page 100

Item #17.



Any PLUMBING 
COMMERCIAL NEW

2 1 1 0 0 0 1

PLUMBING 
RESIDENTIAL

3 4 4 0 0 0 1

RE-ROOF 12 13 13 0 0 0 1

RESIDENTIAL 
ADDITION

4 3 3 0 4 8.08 1

RESIDENTIAL 
IMPROVEMENT

5 1 1 0 6 4.36 1

RESIDENTIAL NEW 6 1 1 0 13 0.45 1

ROOKERY ONLY- 
RESIDENTIAL NEW

1 0 0 0 0 0 1

SHED UNDER 
150SF

1 0 0 0 0 0 1

SIGN 1 0 0 0 0 0 1

SITE 
DEVELOPMENT

1 0 0 0 0 0 1

SPECIAL EVENT 2 4 3 1 10 21.86 1

TEMP POLE 0 1 1 0 0 0 1

TENT - 
FIREWORKS 
SALES

1 0 0 0 0 0 1

TREE REMOVAL 0 1 1 0 13 0 1

SPECIAL 
EVENT

EVT-24-021

Dinklebells Pickleball 
Tournament 12/6-12/8

CLOSED 415 LEMON STREET 
(THOMAS HOGANS 
MEMORIAL GYM)
Green Cove Springs, FL 32043

Submitted:
Technically Complete:

Approved:
Ready to Issue:

Issued:

09/24/2024
09/24/2024
11/14/2024
11/14/2024
11/14/2024

In Process:
Waiting:

Total Days:
Total Cycles:

51
0

51
1

Permits Over 30 Days

30-Day Permit Statistics

11/01/2024 to 11/30/2024

Page 2 of 2

Report run on: 12/09/2024 11:19 AM

Reporting
Group

Permit 
Type

Number
Submitted

Number
Issued

Issued
Within 30

Issued
Over 30

Mean Time 
to Issue

Standard 
Deviation

Average
Cycles

Page 101

Item #17.



Walnut Street and Orange Avenue Intersection Traffic Volumes 
 

 

 

 

Ferris Street and Orange Avenue Intersection Traffic Volumes 

 

  
Page 102

Item #17.



US 17/SR 16 LCT Intersection Traffic Volumes 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Oakridge and Idlewild Intersection Traffic Volumes 

 

 
 Page 103

Item #17.



Page 1 of 6 

 

Public Works 
Monthly Executive Summary 

October 2024 
 
Street Department 
During the month of October, the Street Department was very busy repairing potholes and 
sinkholes throughout Cove Life.  We had 11.40 inches of rain this month.   Additional activities 
for the month of October included:   
 

• Assisted with the Stormwater and Sidewalk Improvements. 

• Clean storm drains and ditches City Wide.  

• Setup for traffic control for Food Truck Friday, October 4th. 

• Setup for traffic control for Trunk or Treat October 25th. 

• City Wide repainting crosswalks.  

• Replace 25 City Street signs. 

• 2 silt fence inspection 

 
The Street Department completed 58 additional work orders that pertained to street and 
stormwater issues. 
 

Parks Department 
During the month of October, the Parks Department mowed, trimmed, and edged all areas one 

time including the DOT rights-of-way, City Parks, and FCT property.   Additional activities 

included:  

• Clean the pool 3 times. 

• Pre the Police Department for Trunk or Treat event. 

• Prep our Spring Park for Food Truck Friday, October 4th. 
 

                                        

The Parks Department completed 1 additional work order outside of their normal daily work 
schedules. 
 

Equipment Maintenance 
The Equipment Maintenance Shop, as always, works hard to keep the equipment and vehicles 
going so the city can continue to provide our citizens with the exceptional service they are 
accustomed to.  During the month of October, Levi and John completed 86 work orders.   

 
Tradesworker 
 

During the month of October 22 work orders were completed.  

 
 
 

Page 104

Item #17.



Page 2 of 6 

 
Solid Waste Department 
 
       Cove Life, Litter Cleanup Program & New Services: 

• Picked up everything around the rollout cans. 

• Picked up as much loose trash, palm fronds, and sticks as possible on the streets, along 
the R.O.W. and ditches regardless of if it is near a container or not. 

• Delivered 0 trash can and 0 recycle bins to new customers. 

• Delivered 1 recycling bins to current customers. 

• Repaired 10 trash cans.  

• Replaced 10 trash cans.   
 

This month October the city collected:   

• 317.81 tons of Class I garbage (5 % increase) 

• 1.52 tons of recycling (90% decrease) 

• 274.91 tons of yard waste (155% increase due to storms) 

• 39.54 tons of Sludge 

• 18.93 Street Sweepings  

• 11.14 tons of white goods and other junk 

• 70.00 tons Commercial pickup  
 
For comparison during October 2023, the city collected: 

• 303.51  tons of Class I garbage  

• 14.93 tons of recycling  

• 107.69  tons of yard waste  

• 75.41 tons of Sludge 

• 8.07 Street Sweepings  

• 14.34 tons of white goods and other junk 

• 70 tons Commercial pickup  
 
 

 

Water/Wastewater 
 

• W/WW crews/management had personal interaction with several citizens regarding 
water/sewer issues. 

• Contacted all customers on water and irrigation “Highest Users” report that had unusual 
consumption (not usually on report) 

• Staff continues to refine the scope and financials of the consolidated AWWTP, expanded 
reclaimed water system, wastewater collection system improvements and water system 
capital improvements to obtain maximum grant potential, optimize loan conditions and 
minimize impact to customers. 

• W/WW/RW Projects; 
o Design of the improvements to the city’s wastewater treatment system (all 

phases) is complete.  In order to maximize grant opportunities, the initial 
construction phase was split into two pieces, for a total of four phases; 

Page 105

Item #17.



Page 3 of 6 

▪ Phase I is construction of the on-site reclaimed water system (storage 
tanks, high service pumps, electrical) at the existing Harbor Road Facility, 
and rehabilitation of Master Lift Stations #2 and #4.  This phase went out 
to bid in January in two parts – plant reclaimed water improvements & 
lift station #2 & #4.  Construction was completed in June 2020.  The total 
Phase I cost is $6,120,600. Staff received $4,063,425.00 in “Principal 
Forgiveness” (grant) from FDEP (SRF).   

▪ Phase II: 

• Construction of the new 1.25 million gallon per day (MGD) 
advanced wastewater treatment plant (AWWTP) at the Harbor 
Road site.   
Construction approximately 75% complete 

 
 

▪ Phase III: 

• A new force main from Lift Station #2 diverting the sewage from 
the South Plant to Harbor Road (all sewage generated in the City 
will be treated at the new Harbor Road AWWTP). 

• Decommissioning and “mothballing” of the South Wastewater 
Treatment Plant.  The permit will remain in place and the plant 
could be re-commissioned at a later date depending on future 
activities at the Reynolds site. 

▪ Phase IV (future – determined by growth) is a second identical 1.25 MGD 
AWWTP built at the Harbor Road site.  An alternative would be 
construction of this train at the South Plant site in Reynolds Park if the 
southern /Reynolds portion of our service territory is where significant 
growth occurs 

▪ Phase V (future – determined by growth) is a third identical 1.25 MGD 
AWWTP built at the Harbor Road or Reynolds site.   

o Sanitary Sewer Evaluation Survey (SSES) of the Core City wastewater collection 
system is complete, including Mittauer final report.  Staff utilizes this data daily 
in evaluating collection system repairs and requests for sewer connections. 

o Continuing to work with FDOT and Clay County on utility relocations associated 
with the First Coast Expressway and Clay County road expansions (CR 315 & CR 
209 / Russel Road).  

• Senate Bill 64 – Surface Water Discharge Elimination Act:  In 2021 the Florida Senate 
approved SB 64, which requires wastewater treatment plants to eliminate surface water 
discharges by 2035, which has become a significant financial burden to utilities.  This 
requires the city to eliminate effluent discharge from the Harbor Road and South 
wastewater treatment plants to the St. Johns River.   While the city has been 
implementing reclaimed water projects for several years, there are not enough uses to 
take all of the city’s treated wastewater.  In November 2021 the city submitted to FDEP 
a plan as to how surface water discharges will be eliminated.   

 
Potable Water: 

• Staff and Mittauer have completed a full review of the future capital needs of the water 
system.  A comprehensive capital improvement program (CIP) has been developed as 
part of the Water Master Plan.  As in the past, the timing of many of these 

Page 106

Item #17.



Page 4 of 6 

improvements is driven by future activities in Reynolds Industrial Park and other areas 
of our service territory.  The city has received an FDEP – SRF loan for Planning and 
Engineering of several of the CIP improvements so that as the need for the 
improvements occur, the City is ahead of the game and can apply very quickly to SRF for 
actual construction dollars as “shovel-ready” projects.  The total design project cost is 
$356,800.00, with a $178,400.00 (50%) principal forgiveness (grant), leaving an actual 
loan of $180,100.00. 

• Reynolds Water System Improvements:   

• New water mains along two primary streets to remedy fire hydrants that were 
inadequate. 

• New 12” water main crossing under SR 16 to replace aging mains that endanger 
the integrity of the road.  This eliminated four existing crossings. 

• New water main along Red Bay Road eliminating existing aging and leaking 
pipes.  In addition remediating fire hydrants that were inadequate. 

• New water main and sewer force main extension from Reynolds Park to and 
across the MOBRO complex.  This extension is designed to supply water, fire 
protection & sewer needs to MOBRO and future developments to the east.  

• Completed September 2021   
 
 
South Service Territory Improvements: 

o New 12” water main loop from US17 along CR 209 S to the existing 12” water main 
that terminated at 4600 CR 209 S.  This also included a new 4” sewer force main 
from US 17 along CR 209 S to the First Coast Expressway crossing.  Completed 
September 2021 

• The City has received grants from the State of Florida Hazard Mitigation Grant Program 
(HMGP) to install auxiliary generators at 17 sewage lift stations, and install generators / 
raise infrastructure at four additional stations.  The grant funds 75% of the 
improvements.  Approximately 99% complete 

• Continued remediation of malfunctioning or out-of-service hydrants. 

• Operated and maintained the Harbor Rd. and South Wastewater Treatment Plants as 
well as the Harbor Rd. and Reynolds Water Treatment Plants to meet the requirements 
of Regulatory Agencies. 

• Continued to make process control adjustments at the Harbor Rd. and South WWTP in 
efforts to further lower Total Nitrogen and Total Phosphorus levels being discharged to 
the St. Johns River.  

• Continued landscape maintenance at Water and Wastewater Treatment Facilities as 
well as lift stations. 

• Continued preventative maintenance on all treatment facility generators. 

• Completed 2 new services. 

• Completed 71 water-related work orders. 

• Completed 20 sewer related work orders. 

• Responded to 156 utilities locate requests. 
 

 
 
 

Page 107

Item #17.



Page 5 of 6 

 
TOP 10 WATER CUSTOMERS OCTOBER 2024 

 Largest Largest 
 (By Consumption) (By Dollar Amount) 
Rank CONSUMER  Rank CONSUMER  
 
1  Sheriff’s Department                                                        1           St John’s Landing 
2 St John’s Landing 2           Sheriff’s Department 
3            Kinder Health  3           Kindred Health 
4 Oak Street OPCO LLC 4           Oak Street OPCO LLC 
5            Clay Port INC          5           Clay Port INC 
6 Governors Landing 6            Governors Landing 
7            Premier Surface Design LLC 7            Dreh Holding LLC  
8            Garber Realty/Car Wash                                                   8            Garber Realty/Car Wash 
9            Dreh Holdings LLC 9            CCUA Hagan’s Ridge 
10 Springs Coin Laundry 10          Scrubbles  

                                                           
TOP 10 IRRIGATION CUSTOMERS OCTOBER 2024 

 Largest Largest 
 (By Consumption) (By Dollar Amount) 
Rank CONSUMER  Rank CONSUMER  
 
1        Magnoila Point Association       1    Magnolia Point Association   
2        Magnolia Point Investments   2    Magnolia Point Investments   
3        Permabase Building Products 3    Permabase Building Products   
4        Vallencourt Construction  4    Mobro Marine INC    
5        Sheriff’s Department 5    Vallencourt Construction 
6        Mobro Marine INC        6    Sheriffs Department  
7        Governors Point Yacht Club 7    Brad & Beth Taman 
8        Coral Ridge Foods, GC #4868 8    Governors Point Yacht Club 
9        Green Cove Springs Junior High 9    Coral Ridge Food GC #4868                                                                    
10      Brad & Beth Taman                                                              10   Green Cove Springs Junior High     

 
 

TOP 10 SEWER CUSTOMERS OCTOBER 2024 
 Largest Largest 
 (By Consumption) (By Dollar Amount) 
Rank CONSUMER  Rank CONSUMER  
 
1 Sheriff’s Department  1 St Johns Landing 
2 St Johns Landing  2            Sheriff’s Department 
3 Kindred Health 3 Kindred Health 
4 Oak Street OPCO LLC 4            Oak Street OPCO LLC 
5 Clay Port INC 5            Clay Port INC                                                             
6 Governors Landing  6            Governors Landing                                                                        
7   Premier Surface Design LLC                                             7             Dreh Holdings LLC 
8    Garber Realty/Car Wash  8            Clay High 
9            Dreh Holding LLC     9            Garber Realty/Car Wash 
10          Springs Coin Laundry 10         Scrubbles 

Page 108

Item #17.



Page 6 of 6 

 
Wastewater Plant Capacity Status 

 
South Plant:  TMDL Capacity 0.350 MGD*,  

• Current Loading 0.269 MGD*, 77% Capacity (October 2024 Annual Average) 

• Current & Committed (.065) Loading 0.334 MGD*, 95% Capacity 

• Current, Committed (.065) & Requested (0.05) Loading 0.339 MGD*, 97% Capacity 
 
Harbor Road:  TMDL Capacity 0.650 MGD* 

• Current Loading 0.504 MGD*, 78% Capacity (October 2024 Annual Average) 

• Current & Committed (0) Loading 0.504 MGD*, 78% Capacity 

• Current, Committed & Requested (0) Loading 0.504 MGD*, 78% Capacity 
*MGD = Million Gallons per Day       
                          Note:  No Reynolds growth or loading projections included in above. 
 

Page 109

Item #17.



Page 1 of 6 

 

Public Works 
Monthly Executive Summary 

NOVEMBER 2024 
 
Street Department 
During the month of November, The Street Department has been busy throughout the 

city.  Additional activities included:    

 

• Assisted with the Stormwater and Sidewalk Improvements. 

• Clean storm drains and ditches City Wide.  

• Setup for traffic control for November 2nd Food Truck Friday and 150 years 
celebration. 

• Assist with installation of security lights and VFH Park and Pickleball Court 

• Pickle Ball Court install gates 

• 3 silt fence inspection 

• Prepare the City for the Christmas season, Christmas on Walnut Street and 

Parade.   

 
The Street Department completed 39 additional work orders that pertained to street and 
stormwater issues. 
 

Parks Department 
During the month of November, the Parks Department mowed, trimmed, and edged all areas 

one time including the DOT rights-of-way, City Parks, and FCT property.   Additional activities 

included:  

• Clean the pool 3 times. 

• Prepare the City for the Christmas season, Christmas on Walnut Street and 

Parade.   

• Prep our Spring Park November 2nd Food Truck Friday and 150 years 

                                        

The Parks Department completed 1 additional work order outside of their normal daily work 
schedules. 
 

Equipment Maintenance 
The Equipment Maintenance Shop, as always, works hard to keep the equipment and vehicles 
going so the city can continue to provide our citizens with the exceptional service they are 
accustomed to.  During the month of November, Levi and John completed 84 work orders.   

 
 
 

Page 110

Item #17.



Page 2 of 6 

Tradesworker 
 

During the month of November 20 work orders were completed.  

 
Solid Waste Department 
 
       Cove Life, Litter Cleanup Program & New Services: 

• Picked up everything around the rollout cans. 

• Picked up as much loose trash, palm fronds, and sticks as possible on the streets, along 
the R.O.W. and ditches regardless of if it is near a container or not. 

• Delivered 0 trash can and 0 recycle bins to new customers. 

• Delivered 1 recycling bins to current customers. 

• Repaired 2 trash cans.  

• Replaced 59trash cans.   
 

This month November the city collected:   

• 262.98 tons of Class I garbage (4 % decrease) 

• 0.22 tons of recycling (99% decrease) 

• 99.55 tons of yard waste (68% increase) 

• 88.27 tons of Sludge 

• 5.88 Street Sweepings  

• 14.71 tons of white goods and other junk 

• 70.00 tons Commercial pickup  
 
For comparison during November 2023, the city collected: 

• 274.58 tons of Class I garbage  

• 16.37 tons of recycling  

• 59.24  tons of yard waste  

• 0 tons of Sludge 

• 0 Street Sweepings  

• 7.15 tons of white goods and other junk 

• 70 tons Commercial pickup  
 
 

 

Water/Wastewater 
 

• W/WW crews/management had personal interaction with several citizens regarding 
water/sewer issues. 

• Contacted all customers on water and irrigation “Highest Users” report that had unusual 
consumption (not usually on report) 

• Staff continues to refine the scope and financials of the consolidated AWWTP, expanded 
reclaimed water system, wastewater collection system improvements and water system 
capital improvements to obtain maximum grant potential, optimize loan conditions and 
minimize impact to customers. 

• W/WW/RW Projects; 

Page 111

Item #17.



Page 3 of 6 

o Design of the improvements to the city’s wastewater treatment system (all 
phases) is complete.  In order to maximize grant opportunities, the initial 
construction phase was split into two pieces, for a total of four phases; 

▪ Phase I is construction of the on-site reclaimed water system (storage 
tanks, high service pumps, electrical) at the existing Harbor Road Facility, 
and rehabilitation of Master Lift Stations #2 and #4.  This phase went out 
to bid in January in two parts – plant reclaimed water improvements & 
lift station #2 & #4.  Construction was completed in June 2020.  The total 
Phase I cost is $6,120,600. Staff received $4,063,425.00 in “Principal 
Forgiveness” (grant) from FDEP (SRF).   

▪ Phase II: 

• Construction of the new 1.25 million gallon per day (MGD) 
advanced wastewater treatment plant (AWWTP) at the Harbor 
Road site.   
Construction approximately 75% complete 

 
 

▪ Phase III: 

• A new force main from Lift Station #2 diverting the sewage from 
the South Plant to Harbor Road (all sewage generated in the City 
will be treated at the new Harbor Road AWWTP). 

• Decommissioning and “mothballing” of the South Wastewater 
Treatment Plant.  The permit will remain in place and the plant 
could be re-commissioned at a later date depending on future 
activities at the Reynolds site. 

▪ Phase IV (future – determined by growth) is a second identical 1.25 MGD 
AWWTP built at the Harbor Road site.  An alternative would be 
construction of this train at the South Plant site in Reynolds Park if the 
southern /Reynolds portion of our service territory is where significant 
growth occurs 

▪ Phase V (future – determined by growth) is a third identical 1.25 MGD 
AWWTP built at the Harbor Road or Reynolds site.   

o Sanitary Sewer Evaluation Survey (SSES) of the Core City wastewater collection 
system is complete, including Mittauer final report.  Staff utilizes this data daily 
in evaluating collection system repairs and requests for sewer connections. 

o Continuing to work with FDOT and Clay County on utility relocations associated 
with the First Coast Expressway and Clay County road expansions (CR 315 & CR 
209 / Russel Road).  

• Senate Bill 64 – Surface Water Discharge Elimination Act:  In 2021 the Florida Senate 
approved SB 64, which requires wastewater treatment plants to eliminate surface water 
discharges by 2035, which has become a significant financial burden to utilities.  This 
requires the city to eliminate effluent discharge from the Harbor Road and South 
wastewater treatment plants to the St. Johns River.   While the city has been 
implementing reclaimed water projects for several years, there are not enough uses to 
take all of the city’s treated wastewater.  In November 2021 the city submitted to FDEP 
a plan as to how surface water discharges will be eliminated.   

 
 

Page 112

Item #17.



Page 4 of 6 

Potable Water: 

• Staff and Mittauer have completed a full review of the future capital needs of the water 
system.  A comprehensive capital improvement program (CIP) has been developed as 
part of the Water Master Plan.  As in the past, the timing of many of these 
improvements is driven by future activities in Reynolds Industrial Park and other areas 
of our service territory.  The city has received an FDEP – SRF loan for Planning and 
Engineering of several of the CIP improvements so that as the need for the 
improvements occur, the City is ahead of the game and can apply very quickly to SRF for 
actual construction dollars as “shovel-ready” projects.  The total design project cost is 
$356,800.00, with a $178,400.00 (50%) principal forgiveness (grant), leaving an actual 
loan of $180,100.00. 

• Reynolds Water System Improvements:   

• New water mains along two primary streets to remedy fire hydrants that were 
inadequate. 

• New 12” water main crossing under SR 16 to replace aging mains that endanger 
the integrity of the road.  This eliminated four existing crossings. 

• New water main along Red Bay Road eliminating existing aging and leaking 
pipes.  In addition remediating fire hydrants that were inadequate. 

• New water main and sewer force main extension from Reynolds Park to and 
across the MOBRO complex.  This extension is designed to supply water, fire 
protection & sewer needs to MOBRO and future developments to the east.  

• Completed September 2021   
 
 
South Service Territory Improvements: 

o New 12” water main loop from US17 along CR 209 S to the existing 12” water main 
that terminated at 4600 CR 209 S.  This also included a new 4” sewer force main 
from US 17 along CR 209 S to the First Coast Expressway crossing.  Completed 
September 2021 

• The City has received grants from the State of Florida Hazard Mitigation Grant Program 
(HMGP) to install auxiliary generators at 17 sewage lift stations, and install generators / 
raise infrastructure at four additional stations.  The grant funds 75% of the 
improvements.  Approximately 99% complete 

• Continued remediation of malfunctioning or out-of-service hydrants. 

• Operated and maintained the Harbor Rd. and South Wastewater Treatment Plants as 
well as the Harbor Rd. and Reynolds Water Treatment Plants to meet the requirements 
of Regulatory Agencies. 

• Continued to make process control adjustments at the Harbor Rd. and South WWTP in 
efforts to further lower Total Nitrogen and Total Phosphorus levels being discharged to 
the St. Johns River.  

• Continued landscape maintenance at Water and Wastewater Treatment Facilities as 
well as lift stations. 

• Continued preventative maintenance on all treatment facility generators. 

• Completed 2 new services. 

• Completed 51 water-related work orders. 

• Completed 12 sewer related work orders. 

• Responded to 118 utilities locate requests. 

Page 113

Item #17.



Page 5 of 6 

 
TOP 10 WATER CUSTOMERS NOVEMBER 2024 

 Largest Largest 
 (By Consumption) (By Dollar Amount) 
Rank CONSUMER  Rank CONSUMER  
 
1  Sheriff’s Department                                                        1           St John’s Landing 
2 Oak Street OPCO LLC 2           Oak Street OPCO LLC 
3            Kinder Health  3           Kindred Health 
4 Clay Port INC 4           Clay High 
5            Governors Landing Condo INC         5           Clay Port INC 
6            Luv Car Wash 6            Luv Car Wash 
7            Garber Realty/Car Wash 7            Garber Realty/Car Wash  
8            Clay High                                                                              8            Governors Landing Condo INC 
9            Premier Surface Design LLC 9            Premier Surface Design LLC 
10 Earth Works of Florida LLC 10          Earth Works of Florida LLC 
                                                           

 
TOP 10 IRRIGATION CUSTOMERS NOVEMBER 2024 

 Largest Largest 
 (By Consumption) (By Dollar Amount) 
Rank CONSUMER  Rank CONSUMER  
 
1        Sheriff’s Department       1    Sheriff’s Department    
2        Permabase Builing Products   2    Permabase Building Products  
3        Magnolia Point Investments  3    Magnolia Point Investments    
4        Vallencourt Construction  4    Mobro Marine INC    
5        Mobro Marine INC 5    Vallencourt Construction 
6        Magnolia Point Association       6    Magnolia Point Association 
7        Green Cove Springs Junior High 7    Green Cove Springs Junior High 
8        Governors Point Yacht Club 8    Governors Point Yacht Club 
9        Coral Ridge Foods 9    AMH Development Res                                                                    
10      Jeffrey Schoen                                                                       10  Coral Ridge Foods    

 
TOP 10 SEWER CUSTOMERS NOVEMBER 2024 

 Largest Largest 
 (By Consumption) (By Dollar Amount) 
Rank CONSUMER  Rank CONSUMER  
 
1 Sheriff’s Department  1 St Johns Landing 
2 St Johns Landing  2            Sheriff’s Department 
3 Oak Street OPCO LLC 3 Oak Street OPCO LLC 
4 Kindred Health 4            Kindred Health 
5 Clay Port INC 5            Clay Port INC                                                             
6 Governors Landing  6            Clay High                                                                       
7   Luv Car Wash                                                                     7             Luv Car Wash 
8    Garber Realty/Car Wash  8            Governors Landing Condo 
9            Clay High     9            Garber Realty/Car Wash 
10          Premier Surface Design LLC 10         Premier Surface Design LLC 

Page 114

Item #17.



Page 6 of 6 

 
Wastewater Plant Capacity Status 

 
South Plant:  TMDL Capacity 0.350 MGD*,  

• Current Loading 0.269 MGD*, 77% Capacity (October 2024 Annual Average) 

• Current & Committed (.065) Loading 0.334 MGD*, 95% Capacity 

• Current, Committed (.065) & Requested (0.05) Loading 0.339 MGD*, 97% Capacity 
 
Harbor Road:  TMDL Capacity 0.650 MGD* 

• Current Loading 0.504 MGD*, 78% Capacity (October 2024 Annual Average) 

• Current & Committed (0) Loading 0.504 MGD*, 78% Capacity 

• Current, Committed & Requested (0) Loading 0.504 MGD*, 78% Capacity 
*MGD = Million Gallons per Day       
                          Note:  No Reynolds growth or loading projections included in above. 
 

Page 115

Item #17.


	Top
	Item #1.	PROC: MLK 2025
	MLK Day - January 2025

	Item #2.	PROC: Arbor Day 2025
	Arbor Day - January 2025

	Item #3.	PROC: Amazing Grace
	Amazing Grace Family Farms

	Item #4.	FMPA - January 2025
	FMPA Monthly Report January 2025-word
	EC-Agenda-Package-2024-12-12

	Item #5.	O-35-2024 - Adding Article III
	Ordinance No. O-35-2024 - Sexual Predator Act
	Child Safety Zones

	Item #6.	CA: Black History Month 2025
	Black History Month - February 2025

	Item #7.	CA: Carolyn Edwards Proclamation
	Carolyn Edwards

	Item #8.	City Attorney Contract Amendment 2025
	01.07.2025 City Staff Report - Amending City Attorney Contract
	City Attorney Amended Agreement 2025
	Amendment to City Attorney Employment Agreement  - revised 09-03-21
	Amendment to City Attorney Employment Agreement 2017-2018 - revised 08-23-17
	City Attorney Employment Agreement 2013-2014 revised 10-25-2013

	Item #9.	Award of Bid 2024-09, Bayard Stormwater Improvements to DB Civil Construction in the amount of $875,945.00.
	Bid 2024-09 DB Civil Award
	Evaluation Tabulation (2)
	2024-09 Bid Opening -Sign-in sheets

	Item #10.	City Council approval of pay application #5 to Kirby Development, Inc. In the amount of $178,805.19, for the Julia Street Stormwater Improvement Project.
	Staff Report -  Pay App 5 Julia Street Stormwater Improvement Project (1) (1)
	Julia Street - Pay App 5-

	Item #11.	Approve Pay Application #9 for the West Street CDBG Stormwater Improvements and Highland Sidewalk Improvements to Besch and Smith in the amount of $52,494.74.
	6.18.24 -NEW 2Staff Report - Pay Application 9 2023-14 West St CDBG.docx Storm (1) (1) (1) (1) (1)
	PR#9 Compilation page
	PR#9 West St Drainage
	PR#9 Highlands Ave Sidewalk

	Item #12.	Sawcross Pay Request #8
	Sawcross Pay Request   8, 01-07-25, Staff Report
	Tender Contractor's Pay Request No. 8

	Item #13.	Clay Habitat - Palmer Trace Final Plat
	Staff Report_CC_Clay Habitat
	Palmer Trace Final Plat
	Palmer Trace Subdivison Application

	Item #14.	Scrivener's Error - R-12-2024
	01.07.2025 - R-12-2024 - Scrivener's error
	Resolution No. R-12-2024 - FDOT - Traffic Signal Maint - ARV47

	Item #15.	CDBG-CV Cafetorium architect task order to Forefront
	Staff report CDBG-CV bid 2024-06 TASK ORDER to Forefront 010725
	2025-01-02 Forefront AE_Green Cove Springs Cafetorium Renovation_Exhibit A

	Item #16.	O-01-2025
	01.07.2025 City Staff Report - O-01-2025
	Ordinance No. O-01-2025 - Abandoned items on City Property

	Item #17.	City Manager & City Attorney Reports / Correspondence
	Electric Dept - November 2024
	2024 November MONTHLY REPORT Building-CE-PZ_REVISED
	Public Works W-WW- October 2024
	Public Works W-WW- November 2024

	Bottom



